History of Adequacy

2022 ADEQUACY STUDY

January 4, 2022

Prepared for the Interim Senate Committee on Education and the Interim House Committee on Education













Contents

ntroduction	
Background	1
	3
Matrix	3
School-Level Staffing	4
Classroom Teachers	
Special Education Teachers	
Instructional Facilitators	
Librarian/Media Specialist	
Guidance Counselor, Nurse, and Other Pupil Support	
Principal	
Secretary	11
School-Level Resources	11
Technology	11
Instructional Materials	12
Extra Duty Funds	13
Supervisory Aides	14
Substitutes	14
Carry-Forward/District-Level Resources	15
Operations and Maintenance	15
Central Office	16
Transportation	17
Categoricals	17
English Language Learners	18
Federal Law Prior to 2003	18
Arkansas Funding for ELL	18
Changes based on Every Student Succeeds Act	18
Recent Changes in Arkansas ELL Approach	19
Alternative Learning Environments	19
Enhanced Student Achievement	20
ESA Funding	20
ESA Funding Allowable Uses	21
Other Related State Funding	21
Professional Development	22
History of Funding and Professional Development Generally	
History of Specific Professional Development Requirements	
Additional Funding for Matrix and Categorical Items	
Additional Enhanced Student Achievement	24
Special Education High-Cost Occurrences Funding	
Transportation	
Additional Professional Development Funding	
Enhanced Salary	26

Declining, Growth, and Isolated Funding	26
Isolated Funding	27
Student Growth Funding	28
Declining Enrollment Funding	29
Accountability Programs	29
State Accountability System: Arkansas Educational Support and Accountability Program	30
Fiscal Distress	31
Facilities Distress	31
Other Topics	32
Waivers	32
Open-Enrollment Charters	32
Conversion Charters	33
Districts and Schools of Innovation	34
Act 1240 Waivers	35
Career and Technical Education	35
CTE Governance Structure	36
Secondary Technical Career Centers	37
Learning Expectations	37
Additional Special Education Topics	39
Dyslexia Screening Requirements	39
Medicaid Behavioral Health and Development Disability Systems Reimbursement Change	s39
Succeed Scholarship	40
Licensure Changes	41

Introduction

The Adequacy Study statute¹ requires the House and Senate Education Committees to evaluate the entire spectrum of public education to determine whether students receive equal opportunity for an adequate education. This adequacy history report is presented as part of that evaluation.

This report will summarize the history of various K-12 education programs and funding streams. The adequacy statute requires that many of the programs and funding streams be examined in the adequacy report; however, a few of the programs and funding streams are topics that have been requested by the Committees or traditionally presented as part of the adequacy process. Because each of the programs and funding streams will be discussed in greater detail in a later report, this report does not attempt to get into the specifics of programs or funding streams. The purpose of this report is to ensure that readers of later reports will have a common understanding of the broad history of adequacy in Arkansas, as well as a more specific understanding of the history of each specific program or funding stream.

Background

In DuPree v. Alma School District², the Arkansas Supreme Court found that the state's education funding system was unconstitutional because it was inequitable. The plaintiffs in the case argued that the school funding system, based on the local tax base, varied by location, and the state had not done enough to remedy the inequalities. The Court also established that the state has the ultimate responsibility for education; if the state turns over responsibility for education to local districts and the local districts do not meet the constitutional requirements, the state must step in to remedy the deficiencies.

The General Assembly's efforts to define and fund an adequate education were driven by a lawsuit filed in August 1992 by the Lake View School District in Phillips County. The lawsuit claimed the disparity between public school funding for wealthy districts and for low-income districts was unconstitutional.

In 2002, the Arkansas Supreme Court declared the state's public school funding system unconstitutional, stating that the funding system was both inequitable and inadequate. The court ordered the state to define educational adequacy, examine the entire spectrum of the state's public education system, and monitor how state education funding is spent.

To comply with the court's ruling, the General Assembly created the Joint Committee on Educational Adequacy during the 2003 regular legislative session and charged it with conducting an adequacy study. The committee hired school funding experts Lawrence O. Picus and Associates, who spent four months reviewing Arkansas's school finance and adequacy issues and presented their final recommendations September 1, 2003, which included a funding formula based on the staffing and resources necessary to operate an elementary, middle, and high school of 500 students each.

¹ Arkansas Code Annotated § 10-3-2102.

² 279 Ark. 340, 651 S.W.2d 90.

³ Odden, A., Picus, L. O., Fermanich, M. (2003). An Evidence-based Approach to School Finance Adequacy in Arkansas. Report prepared for the Arkansas Joint Committee on Education Adequacy.

Based on the recommendations and other information, the General Assembly enacted 73 education bills into law during the Second Extraordinary Session of 2003. The legislation included new funding for school operations.

The General Assembly's new funding formula made a key change from the consultants' recommendations. Picus and Associates, based on research concerning school size, recommended a funding formula using the resources needed to operate an elementary, middle, and high school of 500 students each. The General Assembly took the consultants' school-based figures and converted the formula to a per-pupil formula, with funding based on a school district of 500 students with one K-12 school, based on a memo known as the "Bisbee memo" for its author, then-Senator David Bisbee. Senator Bisbee believed that the model recommended by the consultants, which was based on resources, would reward inefficiency and ensure that the State was not receiving the maximum benefit for the money it expended. The Bisbee memo outlined how to convert the school-based method the consultants recommended to a per-pupil method. Act 59 of the Second Extraordinary Session of 2003 contained the new per-pupil funding mechanism.⁴

The Supreme Court released the state from court supervision in 2004, praising much of the General Assembly's work while noting that deficiencies still existed. The court noted that Arkansas Department of Education Division of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE) had not adopted Standards of Accreditation, DESE could not identify the state's average teacher salary, and unattached equipment (media, laboratory, fine arts, and computer equipment) were not included in the facilities study.

A year later, after the 2005 legislative session, the Supreme Court reopened the *Lake View* case at the request of 50 school districts. The districts, led by the Rogers School District, argued that despite inflation and new state mandates placed on schools, the General Assembly failed to increase the foundation funding rate for 2005-06. They claimed the money schools received was not enough to provide an adequate education.

In December 2005, the Arkansas Supreme Court again declared the public school funding to be unconstitutionally inequitable and inadequate. Among other findings, the court said the state had failed to comply with two laws: its doomsday provision requiring that education needs be funded first and Act 57 of the Second Extraordinary Session of 2003, which required the state to study the cost of providing an adequate education.

In 2006, the Adequacy Study Oversight Subcommittee began another interim study on education and rehired Picus and Associates to reassess the foundation funding levels. Based on the consultants' recommendations and other information, the Subcommittee refined the funding levels established in the matrix (the tool used to determine funding amounts, discussed further below). In a special session in April 2006, the General Assembly increased the foundation funding rate.

In their 2006 report, Picus and Associates used the per-pupil system that the General Assembly adopted under Act 59 of the Second Extraordinary Session of 2003, rather than the school-based figures Picus and Associates originally recommended in their 2003 report. The consultants' report noted that Act 59 of the Second Extraordinary Session of 2003 used a 500-student district and a 500-student K-12 school as the basis for determining the per-pupil amount for foundation funding. The report stated that

⁴ Odden, A., Picus, L. O., & Goetz, M. (2006). Recalibrating *the Arkansas School Funding Structure*. Report prepared for Arkansas Joint Committee on Education.

using the number 500 made sense since the school-based recommendations in the consultants' original report were all made on the basis of 500-student prototypical schools.

However, the report raised the issue that 500 students might not be the most appropriate number to use to determine per-pupil foundation funding, given the size of Arkansas districts and schools. The report used the example of a principal as a single resource, a resource that is required for every school but that does not change based on the number of students. The report noted that librarians and secretaries are other examples of single resources; teachers are an example of a resource that naturally changes based on the number of students in the school. The report pointed out that for a school of 350, the foundation funds would provide less money for a principal salary and benefits than the amount specified in the matrix; however, the state standards required that schools with 300 or more students employ a full-time principal. The consultants eventually decided to use 500 students as the basis for determining expenditures per pupil in their recommendations, with the understanding that principal salaries are generally lower in smaller schools and would likely align with the smaller amounts of funds that smaller schools would receive, as well as the understanding that schools with fewer than 300 students only needed to provide a half-time principal under the state standards.⁵

A year later in May 2007, the Supreme Court, in a historic decision signed by all seven of the participating justices, declared the Arkansas public school funding system constitutional.

Since that time, the House and Senate Education Committees have undertaken biennial studies of the state's entire education system and have adjusted the matrix and foundation funding levels as they determined were needed.

In 2014, Picus Odden and Associates returned to conduct a desk audit of the funding matrix and provide an overview of the costs of providing broadband services to all districts in the state.

In 2019, the Arkansas Bureau of Legislative Research issued a Request for Proposal requesting education adequacy consulting services for the House and Senate Education Committees. The committees chose to hire Augenblick, Palaich and Associates (APA), who began work in February 2020. The Committees approved APA's final report on December 14, 2020.

Funding

MATRIX

Arkansas uses a specific formula, known as the matrix, to arrive at the per-student funding amount. The matrix calculates the per-student funding based on the cost of personnel and other resources needed to operate a prototypical school of 500 students. Legislators involved in the biennial Adequacy Study recommend the dollar amount needed to fund each line item of the matrix, based on the money needed to adequately fund school districts' educational needs. Unlike the foundation funding rate, the matrix is not established in statute; it is used as a tool to set the foundation funding rate. The matrix is divided into two sections: 1) the number of people needed for the prototypical school of 500 students, and 2) the cost of all needed resources. The matrix is divided into three cost categories, each of which is

⁵ Odden, A., Picus, L. O., & Goetz, M. (2006). Recalibrating *the Arkansas School Funding Structure*. Report prepared for Arkansas Joint Committee on Education.

discussed in a section below: 1) school-level staffing; 2) school-level resources; and 3) district-level resources.

School-Level Staffing

In the matrix, school-level salaries includes teacher and other pupil support staff, a principal and a secretary.

Classroom Teachers

The matrix provides districts and charter schools with funding for 24.94 classroom teachers per 500 students. This staffing level was originally based on the average class sizes established in the Accreditation Standards and the recommendations of the state's education consultants.

In 2003, Picus and Associates recommended developing the matrix based on class sizes of 15 students per class for grades K-3, or an average of 18 students per class for grades K-5. They also recommended a matrix that supported class sizes of 25 students for middle and high school classes. The Arkansas Joint Legislative Committee on Educational Adequacy, however, opted to base the matrix on the state's existing class size standards. The class size standards provide two types of class size restrictions, a maximum and an average. The maximum standard sets the highest number of students any single class can have. The district average requires each district to maintain staffing levels that meet an overall average pupil-to-teacher ratio across the entire school district.

Classroom teachers are divided into two categories in the matrix: core teachers and non-core teachers. Core teachers include teachers whose main responsibility in lower grades is to serve as the primary classroom teacher. In higher grades, core teachers teach in one or more of four academic areas: language arts, math, science, and social studies. The second group, non-core teachers, includes educators who teach physical education, art, or music, or other electives. These teachers have also been called "specialist teachers."

The 2003 and 2006 Picus and Associates studies recommended that the state calculate the number of non-core teachers needed at 20% of the total core academic teachers. The consultants reasoned that core teachers need one period per day for collaborative planning and professional development, which they could receive when students are in elective classes. Arkansas state law requires districts to allow each teacher at least 200 minutes per week to schedule time for conferences and instructional planning. The planning time must occur in increments of no less than 40 minutes during the instructional day.⁶

The 20% calculation was based on a regular five-hour teacher instructional day at the elementary level and a five-period day at the high school level. Twenty percent of 20.8 core teachers is 4.16 non-core teachers per 500 students (4.14 is the number in the matrix as a result of rounding adjustments).

Teacher Salaries in the Matrix

During the *Lake View* lawsuit, the courts cited Arkansas's comparatively low teacher salaries and wide wage disparities among districts in the state. In 2003, the Arkansas General Assembly addressed these concerns by passing new taxes to generate additional funding for a variety of educational reforms, including a raise for teachers. Act 59 of the Second Extraordinary Session of 2003 raised the statutory minimum salary nearly 26% and increased the other steps of the salary schedule by 20%-25%. For the

Page 4

⁶ A.C.A. § 6-17-114.

2005 school year, the average salary used in the matrix formula was set at \$48,750 (base salary of \$39,000), and each subsequent year, a cost-of-living adjustment has been applied.

Components of the Teacher Salary in the Matrix

For school-level staff, the matrix specifies not only the numbers of needed employees, but how much those employees typically cost, including benefits (health insurance contribution, retirement, Social Security, Medicare, unemployment, and workers' compensation). Act 995 of 2015 called for the district contribution for employees participating in the state school employees' health insurance plan to increase annually "by the same percentage that the legislature increases the per-student foundation funding amount."

Act 1446 of 2013 gave the Arkansas Teacher Retirement System (ATRS) the authority to increase the employer contribution percentage to 15%, and in November 2017, the ATRS Board of Trustees voted to increase the percentage beginning in 2019-20. The employer contribution was to increase a quarter of a percentage point each year over a four-year period.

The Education Committees, in their 2018 final Adequacy Report, did not specifically address this change to the employer contribution for retirement. However, the chairs of the House and Senate Education Committees opted to add \$16 per student to the matrix amount the Committees recommended to help districts pay this increased cost in 2019-20. They also added \$33 to the recommended matrix amount in 2020-21 for the same purpose. The General Assembly then adopted the per-student foundation amounts with the additional funds for retirement by passing Act 667 of 2019. Additionally, the contribution rate for contributory public school employees is increasing from 6% to 7%, or .25 points each year from 2019-20 through 2021-22. This means that while the base salary in the matrix increases, a greater percentage of employees' paychecks is being withheld for retirement each year.

In the 2020 Adequacy Report, the Committees recommended increasing teacher salary amounts from \$68,470 in fiscal year 2021 to \$70,010.60 in fiscal year 2022 and \$71,585.80 in fiscal year 2023. The per-student amount would change from \$4,613.50 for fiscal year 2021 to \$4,717.30 in fiscal year 2022 and \$4,823.50 for fiscal year 2023. The adjustment for retirement remained separate from the salary line and increased to \$50 in 2022 and \$67 in 2023.

Special Education Teachers

The matrix provides funding for 2.9 special education teachers. These teachers are in addition to the 24.94 classroom teachers provided in the matrix.

Because the specific needs of special education students dictate the level of staffing required, the state could not simply calculate the number of special education teachers needed based on the maximum student-to-teacher staffing standard for special education classes. Picus and Associates originally proposed funding 2.0 special education teachers, but after receiving input from panels of Arkansas educators and DESE officials, the Joint Adequacy Committee opted to increase the number to 2.9 teachers.

⁷ English, J. and Cozart, B., March 5, 2019 Addendum, http://www.arkleg.state.ar.us/education/K12/AdequacyReportYears/2018EducationalAdequacyReportVolumel 11-1-2018withAddendum.pdf.

Hired again in 2006, Picus and Associates affirmed the state's methodology of funding special education using a "census" approach, meaning the funding is based on total enrollment rather than on the number of special education students. They affirmed the state's funding level for 2.9 special education teachers for "high-incidence, lower cost students with disabilities." Since 2006, the matrix has continued to fund 2.9 special education teachers for every 500 students. The state has also historically supplemented foundation funding with Catastrophic Occurrences funding (now known as High-Cost Occurrences funding) for low incidence, high-cost students with disabilities. High-Cost Occurrences funding is discussed later in this report.

In their final report of the 2020 Adequacy Study, the Education Committees recommended increasing the per-student foundation funding rate for special education teachers by 2.25% for FY22 and FY23, based on the salary increase for teachers in the matrix.

Instructional Facilitators

The instructional facilitator line of the matrix funds 2.5 employees for each school of 500 students. However, the 2.5 positions are intended to pay for more than just instructional facilitators. The 2.5 positions allow for a half-time assistant principal (.5 full-time equivalent (FTE)) and a half-time technology assistant (.5 FTE), though not all schools or school districts employ those staff. Like all school-level pupil support staff, the cost of each FTE in the instructional facilitator line is calculated using the teacher salary.

Instructional Facilitators and Curriculum Supervisors/Administrators

In 2003, Picus and Associates recommended providing funding for 2.5 instructional facilitators per 500 students. They noted that instructional facilitators "coordinate the instructional program, and provide the important ongoing coaching and mentoring that the professional development literature shows is so critically necessary for teachers to change and improve their instructional practice." They also noted that "[c]urriculum and instructional adaptation requires the support of a specially trained coach at the building level."

When the consultants were rehired in 2006, they reiterated their recommendation that Arkansas provide funding to support 2.5 instructional facilitators but noted that a number of school districts were not actually spending foundation funding on instructional facilitators. The consultants recommended pulling the instructional facilitator funding out of the matrix and creating a separate line of categorical funding where districts' use of the money would be restricted to that purpose.

The General Assembly adopted the consultants' recommendation to designate funding for 2.5 instructional facilitators. The Legislature also opted to leave the instructional facilitator funding in the matrix, rather than breaking it out as a categorical. The instructional facilitator line has included 2.5 FTEs since that time.

In addition to instructional facilitators, Picus and Associates noted in 2003 that the recommended 2.5 employees in the instructional facilitator line could include two other staff positions: a technology assistant and an assistant principal.

⁸ Odden, A., Picus, L. O., Fermanich (2003). *An Evidence-based Approach to School Finance Adequacy in Arkansas. Report* prepared for the Arkansas Joint Committee on Education Adequacy, p. 23 and 30.

Technology Assistant

The technology assistant's role is to "provide the technological expertise to fix small problems with the computer system, install all software, connect computer equipment so it can be used for both instruction and management issues and provide professional development to embed computer technologies into the curriculum." When the consultants were rehired in 2006, they specified that the staffing level for the technology assistant be calculated at .5 of the total 2.5 instructional facilitator FTEs.

Assistant Principal

Assistant principals are also addressed in the instructional facilitator line of the matrix because the state accreditation standards treat them as interchangeable with curriculum specialists. Arkansas accreditation standards require districts to employ a half-time (.5 FTE) assistant principal, instructional supervisor, or curriculum specialist for schools exceeding 500 students.¹⁰

In 2003, the consultants discouraged Arkansas from including assistant principals within the matrix. "[F]ew if any comprehensive school designs include assistant principal positions," they wrote. In passing Act 59 of the Second Extraordinary Session of 2003, the General Assembly adopted the consultants' recommendation and funded a total of 2.5 employees in the instructional facilitators line of the matrix.

Hired again in 2014, the consultants changed their position on assistant principals and recommended adding funding for an assistant principal in the principal line of the matrix. They recommended adding 1 assistant principal for every 600 high school students, "largely for discipline and athletics." This would equate to 0.26 FTEs for the prototypical district. However, the Education Committees did not recommend this change in their final 2014 Adequacy Report.

APA's 2020 Arkansas School Finance Study recommended that the Education Committees consider providing a separate line for assistant principals for greater transparency and also to allow the funding for assistant principals to be considered separately from the other positions included in the instructional facilitator line.

In their 2020 Adequacy Report, the Education Committees did recommend increasing the perstudent foundation funding rate for instructional facilitators by 2.25% for FY22 and FY23, based on the salary increase for teachers in the matrix.

Librarian/Media Specialist

The matrix provides .85 FTE library media specialists for every 500 students. This staffing level is based on the recommendation of the General Assembly's consultants in 2003, with adjustments in 2006 and 2014 to ensure districts could comply with the state's accreditation standards.

In 2003, Picus and Associates recommended the state provide funding for library media specialists for middle schools and high schools. At the elementary level, the consultants recommended considering library media specialists as part of the 20% non-core teachers provided in the matrix. They recommended funding 1.0 FTE library media specialist for middle schools, 1.5 FTE library media

⁹ Odden, A., Picus, L. O., Fermanich (2003). *An Evidence-based Approach to School Finance Adequacy in Arkansas. Report* prepared for the Arkansas Joint Committee on Education Adequacy, p. 23.

¹⁰ Arkansas Standards for Accreditation, 4-C.1.

¹¹ Picus Odden & Associates, Desk Audit of the Arkansas School Funding Matrix and Developing an Understanding of the Potential Costs of Broadband Access for All Schools, September 5, 2014, p. 42.

specialists for high schools and no additional positions for library media specialists at the elementary level. Based on these figures, the total amount of library media specialists for the prototypical school of 500 students was set at 0.7 FTEs. The General Assembly adopted this recommendation and established the library media specialist staffing level at 0.7 FTEs.

In 2006, when the state rehired Picus and Associates, the consultants noted that the staffing level of 0.7 library media specialists per 500 students would not be an adequate level for districts to comply with the state accreditation standards. The consultants recommended funding 1.0 FTE library media specialist in the matrix. The General Assembly, however, opted to set the staffing level at 0.825. That staffing level is the result of an analysis that examined the number of schools in 2006 at each enrollment size: under 300 students, 300-1,500 and more than 1,500. Based on the number of schools at each level, 912.5 library media specialists were needed statewide, and the average number of library media specialists needed was calculated to be .825 per school).

During the 2014 Adequacy Study, the same analysis was applied to the number of schools operating in 2012-13. That analysis showed that an average of 0.85 FTE library media specialists would be needed to be in compliance with state standards. (This analysis included charter schools, some of which had waivers from the library media specialist-to-student ratio.) In their 2014 recommendations, the Education Committees voted to increase the number of library media specialists from 0.825 to 0.85 FTEs beginning in 2015-16.

In their final report of the 2020 Adequacy Study, the Education Committees recommended increasing the per-student foundation funding rate for library media specialists by 2.25% for FY22 and 2.25% for FY23, based on the salary increase for teachers in the matrix.

Guidance Counselor, Nurse, and Other Pupil Support

The matrix contains one line (noted on the matrix as guidance counselor and nurse) that includes funding for guidance counselors, nurses, and other pupil support personnel.

Guidance Counselor

The matrix provides funding for 1.11 FTE guidance counselors for every 500 students. This staffing level is based on the recommendation of the General Assembly's consultants in 2003, with an adjustment based on the state's accreditation standards. In 2003, Picus and Associates recommended one pupil support staff for every 100 students eligible for free or reduced-price lunch (FRL students). They argued that pupil support should increase or decrease with the level of poverty in the population. The consultants also recommended one counselor for every 500 middle school students and two counselors for every 500 high school students. For elementary schools, the consultants did not recommend any additional counselors beyond the pupil support staff based on FRL students.

The General Assembly elected to create a separate source of funding based on the number of FRL students. (The funding, then known as National School Lunch funding and now known as Enhanced Student Achievement or ESA funding, is discussed in further detail later in the report.) The General Assembly authorized districts to use this funding to provide certain pupil support services, including counselors. The General Assembly also opted to provide student support services through the matrix. They established a matrix staffing level for counselors based on the state accreditation standards, which

require districts to have at least one counselor for every 450 students, or approximately 1.11 FTEs per 500 students. 12

In 2006, when Picus and Associates were rehired, they endorsed the staffing levels set for pupil support in the matrix, which included 1.11 counselors, but they also recommended enhancing ESA funding with an additional 1.0 FTE for additional pupil support services staff for every 100 FRL students. The General Assembly decided against implementing this recommendation because the Adequacy Study Oversight Subcommittee found that "funds received by school districts through state foundation funding aid and categorical funding for [FRL] students is adequate, when school districts spend those funds efficiently." The staffing level for guidance counselors has remained at 1.11 since it was originally established.

In their final report of the 2020 Adequacy Study, the Education Committees recommended increasing the per-student foundation funding rate for guidance counselors by 2.25% for FY21 and 2.25% for FY23, based on the salary increase for teachers in the matrix.

Nurse

The matrix provides funding for a .67 FTE nurse for every 500 students. Picus and Associates' 2003 report made no specific mention of school nurses, but their 2006 report noted that nurses had been included in their earlier recommendation for 1.0 FTE pupil support staff for every 100 FRL students. As mentioned previously, the General Assembly passed Act 59 of the Second Extraordinary Session of 2003, which adopted a foundation funding rate calculated to include a staffing level of 2.5 FTE pupil support services staff, including school nurses. That same session, the General Assembly also passed Act 67, which increased the number of required school nurses from 1 per 1,000 students to 1 per 750 students. The law also notes that districts with "a high concentration of children with disabling conditions as determined by the State Board of Education . . . should" have a nurse-to-student requirement of 1:400. Districts that "provide a center for profoundly disabled students . . . should" have a ratio of 1:125. 15

However, the law also includes a provision that makes these requirements effective "only upon the availability of state funds." ¹⁶ A 2016 Arkansas Attorney General opinion stated that "the mere existence of foundation funding does not mean that funds are 'available' under subsection 6-18-706(e). ... If the mere existence of foundation funding were sufficient to automatically trigger the ratio requirements of section 6-18-706, then the triggering provision would be superfluous, as there is always some foundation funding in each year. ... No school is required to spend foundation funding on school nurses. So we must conclude that foundation funding is not 'available' so as to trigger the ratios under section 6-18-706."

¹² Arkansas Accreditation Standards, 4-E.2.

¹³ Adequacy Study Oversight Subcommittee (January 22, 2007). "A Report on Legislative Hearings For the 2006 Interim Study on Educational Adequacy."

¹⁴ A.C.A. § 6-18-706(e)(1).

¹⁵ A.C.A. § 6-18-706(e)(2) and (3).

¹⁶ A.C.A. § 6-18-706(g)(1).

¹⁷ Arkansas Attorney General Opinion 2016-028.

In 2006, the Adequacy Study Oversight Subcommittee specified in its report that, of the 2.5 FTEs in the pupil support line of the matrix, .67 FTEs per 500 students are intended for nursing staff. Since 2006, the matrix has continued to fund .67 school nurses for every 500 students.

Until the 2019 legislative session, state statute ¹⁸ required districts to provide health services as part of their student services program. Act 190 of 2019 eliminated this statute and replaced it with the School Counseling Improvement Act, which established general requirements for coordinating the provision of student services, but made no specific mention of health services. However, accreditation standards still require that school districts provide a health services program under the direction of a licensed registered nurse ¹⁹ and that schools and districts "maintain appropriate materials and expertise to reasonably ensure the safety of students, employees, and visitors." ²⁰

In their final report of the 2020 Adequacy Study, the Education Committees recommended increasing the per-student foundation funding rate for school nurses by 2.25% in FY22 and FY23 based on the salary increase for teachers in the matrix.

Other Pupil Support

Other pupil support services include psychological services, social work services, speech pathology services, and audiology services. While there are no specific state standards requiring these individual services, Arkansas accreditation standards do require school districts to "offer a full continuum of special education services as required by the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act" (2-F.2). Schools are required to provide some of these services for special education students whose individualized education program (IEP) calls for them.

The matrix provides 0.72 FTE positions within the 2.5 pupil support services staff for student services personnel. This number is calculated as the remaining pupil support staff (from the 2.5 total pupil support staff), after accounting for 1.11 counselors and .67 school nurses.

In their final report of the 2020 Adequacy Study, the Education Committees recommended increasing the per-student foundation funding rate for pupil support personnel by 2.25% for FY22 and FY23, based on the salary increase for teachers in the matrix.

Principal

The matrix provides funding for 1.0 FTE principal for every 500 students. In 2003, Picus and Associates recommended 1.0 FTE principal for every 500 students, noting that "all comprehensive school designs, and all prototypic school designs from professional judgment studies around the country include a principal for every school unit." The General Assembly implemented this recommendation in the matrix formula beginning with the 2004-05 school year. When the consultants were hired again in 2006, they noted that the state's accreditation standards require districts to employ at least a half-time principal (.5 FTE) for every school and one full-time (1.0 FTE) principal for schools with 300 students or more. That would mean that some schools smaller than 500 students would need 1 FTE principal to comply with the standards but would be funded only for a partial FTE principal. Still, as discussed above,

¹⁸ A.C.A. § 6-18-1005(a)(6) (repealed).

¹⁹ Arkansas Standards of Accreditation, 2-E.1.

²⁰ Arkansas Standards of Accreditation, 2-E.2.

²¹ Odden, A., Picus, L. O., Fermanich (2003). *An Evidence-based Approach to School Finance Adequacy in Arkansas. Report* prepared for the Arkansas Joint Committee on Education Adequacy, p. 22.

the consultants continued to recommend providing funding for one full-time principal for a school of 500 students. They reasoned that the actual salaries paid in smaller schools are typically low enough that the salary provided in the matrix is adequate even for schools with fewer than 500 students. The principal line has included 1.0 FTE principal since that time.

For principal salary, the matrix includes a salary and benefits package which includes health insurance contribution, retirement, Social Security, Medicare, unemployment, and workers' compensation.

In the 2020 Adequacy Report, the Education Committees recommended increasing the principal salary from \$99,012 in FY20 and FY21 to \$101,487 in FY22 and \$104,024.20 in FY23, or per-student amounts of \$203.1 for FY22 and \$208 for FY23 (up from \$198.10 in FY20 and FY21).

Secretary

The matrix provides funding for one school secretary for every 500 students, including a salary and benefit package (health insurance contribution, retirement, Social Security, Medicare, unemployment, and workers' compensation).

The Picus and Associates' 2003 study mentioned clerical staff as a component of the prototypical school's overall operations and maintenance costs, which the General Assembly translated into a catchall funding line known as the "carry-forward." When the consultants were rehired in 2006, they noted that efficient school operations require administrative support and clerical services, even though state accreditation standards do not require schools to employ clerical support. They recommended that 2.0 FTE school secretaries be separated from the carry-forward and included as a separate line in the school-level staffing section of the matrix. The Adequacy Subcommittee agreed that two school secretaries should be broken out of the carry-forward and included in the school-level staffing section of the matrix. However, following the publication of the Adequacy Subcommittee's final report, the number of school-level secretaries was reduced to one.

The matrix staffing level for clerical support has remained at one secretary position per 500 students since it was established, with inflationary adjustments made to the salary.

In their 2020 adequacy report, APA recommended increasing the number of secretaries to at least two full-time equivalents in schools of 400 or more students.

In the 2020 Adequacy Report, the Education Committees recommended increasing funding from \$81.70 per student in fiscal years 2020 and 2021 to \$83.8 per student in fiscal year 2022 and \$85.8 per student in fiscal year 2023, for a total salary and benefit package of \$41,876.40 for fiscal year 2022 and \$42,923.30 for fiscal year 2023.

School-Level Resources

In the matrix, school-level resources refers to items such as technology and instructional materials, as well as extra duty funds, substitutes, and supervisory aides.

Technology

The technology line item of the matrix was originally set at \$250 per student based on the 2003 Picus and Associates' recommendations. This rate was established to provide districts \$125,000 per 500 students to purchase, update, and maintain hardware and software. The funding was designed to provide one computer for every three students and the technology infrastructure needed for distance

learning. On the advice of the consultants, the General Assembly set the technology funding rate at \$250 per student, but over the next two years, the General Assembly decreased the amount to \$185 per student, due to evidence presented to the Education Committees that the price of technology was decreasing.

In 2006 when the consultants were rehired to adjust the matrix, they again recommended providing districts with \$250 per student to pay for technology expenditures. This time they detailed the individual costs comprising the \$250 funding amount. This funding was designed to cover four categories of technology expenditures: 1) computers, 2) operating system and other non-instructional software, 3) network equipment, printers and copiers, and 4) instructional software and additional hardware. Picus and Associates described the four components and recommended \$100 per student for computers and \$50 per students for each of the other four components.

Picus and Associates noted that the technology funding was designed to cover the costs of physical technology needs and services, not technology employees. Technology staff, they noted, are funded through other line items in the matrix. Specifically, a 0.5 FTE technology assistant is provided through the instructional facilitator line item of the matrix, and the central office line item supports a technology coordinator.

While the consultants reiterated their recommendation in 2006 that technology should be funded at \$250 per student, the Adequacy Subcommittee determined that \$185 per student accurately reflected the cost of technology (minus technology staff) in schools. However, the subcommittee opted to increase the technology funding in 2007-08 to \$220 and decrease it to \$201 for 2008-09 based on a declining inflationary index for computers. From 2009 through 2015, the technology line item steadily increased as a cost-of-living adjustment was applied each year to the total foundation funding rate.

Hired again in 2014, Picus Odden and Associates noted that technology has become a necessary instructional tool that should be embedded in student programs and school management. They again recommended funding technology at \$250 per student. The Education Committees agreed with that finding and recommended increasing the funding level by 5.4% for FY16 and 5.1% for FY17. After the 2016 Adequacy Study, the Education Committees decided against additional increases for the technology component of the matrix for FY18 and FY19. Act 743 of 2017 increased the per-student foundation funding rate to include the following amounts for technology, and Act 667 of 2019 set the rates at \$250 for fiscal years 2020 and 2021. The 2020 Adequacy Study recommended that the funding remain at \$250 per student for fiscal year 2022 and 2023.

Instructional Materials

In 2003, the Joint Adequacy Committee adopted the recommendation that the state provide \$250 per student for instructional materials and supplies. ²² This funding level was based on recommendations in other states. The General Assembly accepted this recommendation and adopted \$250 per student as the funding level for instructional materials.

In 2006, Picus and Associates recommended a reduced funding amount of \$185 per student and specified the types and costs of instructional materials that would be included. This amount was intended to cover textbooks, consumable supplies (e.g., workbooks) and pedagogical aides, library texts

²² In one part of the consultants' 2003 report, Picus and Associates indicated that the \$250 per student was meant to cover "instructional materials, equipment, student activities" (p. xii) and in another part of the report "instructional materials and supplies" (p. 40).

and electronic services, formative assessments (mid-year assessments designed to gauge students' progress and areas of for additional instruction) and funding for elementary teachers to purchase instructional materials. The recommended funding amount was calculated to be \$160 per student plus \$25 per student for formative assessments.

The Adequacy Subcommittee, however, recommended funding instructional materials without formative assessments, which are not required by statute or accreditation standards. The Subcommittee set the funding at \$160 per student and recommended further study of the issue. The Education Committees subsequently received expert testimony on formative assessments, but opted not to include funding for formative assessments in the matrix. The instructional materials funding level gradually increased as annual inflationary adjustments were added through 2014-15, then the funding rate remained the same until fiscal year 2020. The 2020 Adequacy Report recommended increasing the funding to \$192.60 for fiscal year 2022 and \$197.40 for fiscal year 2023.

Extra Duty Funds

In 2003, the Joint Adequacy Committee recommended providing \$90 per student for extra duty activities. The amount was calculated based on \$60 per student for middle schools and \$120 per student for high schools. Although a panel of education professionals convened for the Adequacy Study asked that \$30 per student be added for elementary schools, the Committee did not recommend additional funds for these younger students.

In their 2006 report, Picus and Associates wrote that students who are engaged in extracurricular activities tend to "perform better academically than students not so engaged, though too much extracurricular activity can be a detriment to academic learning." They noted that while districts received \$90 per student for extra duty funds, they actually spent \$215 per student for activities during the 2004-05 school year, most of which was spent on athletics. They argued that while athletics are important, "we are not aware of any research that suggests the benefits of highly competitive interscholastic athletic programs is any more important in improving student learning than more modest athletic programs." They further argued that funding for athletic coaches should be at the same level as the funding provided for stipends for other extra-curricular activities. They recommended adding only an inflationary adjustment to the extra duty funding in the matrix, increasing the amount to \$100 per student, and suggested that districts wanting to spend more on athletics could do so using local funds.

The consultants' 2006 report recommended \$100 per student, but that recommendation was based on an earlier miscalculation in the original matrix. The Adequacy Subcommittee determined that the original number did not properly weight the funding amount to account for the fact that elementary students, who made up nearly half of the student population, did not require extra duty funding. The General Assembly corrected the calculation in 2007 by applying the consultants' 2003 recommendation to the 2005-06 count of elementary, middle and high schools. That calculation resulted in a per-student cost of \$48.84, which was rounded to \$50 for the 2006-07 matrix level.

In the years since the funding amount was set, the extra duty line gradually increased as the foundation funding amount received annual inflationary increases.

In their final report of the 2014 Adequacy Study, the Education Committees recommended increasing the per-student foundation funding rate for extra duty by 6.7% for FY16 and 6.3% FY17. The Committees reasoned that the extra duty funding level did not account for the extracurricular activities in elementary schools that they believed were increasingly common, particularly STEM-related activities. For FY18 and FY19, the Education Committees recommended increasing the per-student funding level

for extra duty by 1% each year. For the 2020 and 2021 school years, the Education Committees recommended no changes to funding. For the 2022 and 2023 school years, the Committees recommended increases to \$67.9 and \$69.6 respectively.

Supervisory Aides

During the 2003 Adequacy Study, the Joint Adequacy Committee took the advice of panels of Arkansas educators and provided \$35 per student to pay for supervisory aides to monitor students getting on and off the bus and during lunch and recess. Although the state accreditation standards do not specifically require supervisory aides, the educator panels urged the Legislature to include this funding due to a law passed in 2003 limiting the amount of time teachers may be assigned to these supervisory duties.

When the consultants were rehired in 2006, they noted that the original \$35 per student was intended to provide two full-time supervisory aides for a school of 500 students. They recommended two supervisory aides, but they suggested increasing the funding amount to \$98.70 per student. This higher amount was based on a salary of \$24,676 each.

The Adequacy Study Oversight Subcommittee, however, determined that a school of 500 students would require just one supervisory aide each day. They based this conclusion on a 2006 survey conducted by ADE in which districts were asked to submit the total hours spent for supervisory duties and the cost of those hours. That data indicated that the average number of supervisory hours per day per student equaled .01742, or 8.71 hours per day for a school of 500 students. The average salary and benefit cost of this time was \$87.21 per hour. Due to the statutory time restrictions, teachers could fill only 6.28 hours of the 8.71 supervisory hours needed, leaving 2.43 hours that would need to be filled by a non-teacher. For this amount of time, the Adequacy Subcommittee determined that one supervisory aide would be adequate, but increased the level of funding by 33%, based on the information provided by ADE.

In the years since the funding amount was set, the supervisory aide line gradually increased as the foundation funding amount received annual inflationary increases through 2014-15. In their final report of the 2014 Adequacy Study, the Education Committees recommended decreasing the per-student foundation funding rate for supervisory aides by 11.8% for FY16 with no increase for FY17. The Committees reasoned that districts had spent only 20% of the foundation funding provided for supervisory aides. The Committees recommended increases for FY18 and FY19, but did not recommended increases for FY20 and FY21. The 2020 Adequacy Report recommended increases to \$51.3 for FY22 and \$52.6 for FY23.

Substitutes

In 2003 the Joint Adequacy Committee recommended districts receive funding to pay for 10 days for each classroom teacher and specialist teacher (non-core) in the matrix. The Committee calculated the funding amount based on an average daily salary of \$100, plus benefits, or \$121 per day.

In 2006, Picus and Associates noted that the funding level the General Assembly had approved for substitutes appeared to adequately cover what districts were spending on substitute teachers. However, they noted that districts tended to pay less than the \$100 per day salary on which the matrix is based. "The data actually showed that the average daily reimbursement rate for substitute teachers was below the average wage of a building custodian. Such a low number indicates a problem; either qualified

substitute teachers are not available so the wage paid equals the worth of the substitute hired, or substitute wages need to increase to allow districts to hire more qualified substitute teachers."

The consultants recommended that the funding level for substitute pay continue to be based on an average daily salary of \$100. The Committee, however, reduced the substitute funding allocation based on evidence that the average daily pay for substitutes is lower than \$100. Instead, the Committee used a base salary of \$75 per day for substitute teachers and set the funding amount at \$59 per pupil.

The 2020 Adequacy Report recommended increasing substitute funding from \$71.80 in FY21 to \$73.60 for FY22 and \$75.40 for FY23.

Carry-Forward/District-Level Resources

In Picus and Associates' original 2003 report, the consultants recommended a total amount for the "carry forward," which represented a category of miscellaneous expenditures not otherwise identified in the school staffing or school resources sections of the matrix. The amount recommended was based on districts' actual expenditures at the time. The consultants stated that the expenditures would likely carry forward unchanged.

When the General Assembly hired Picus and Associates again in 2006, the consultants separated the carry forward into three line items: 1) operations and maintenance; 2) central office expenses; and 3) transportation expenses. These items are still in the matrix as district-level resources.

Operations and Maintenance

In 2003, as the Joint Adequacy Committee and its education consultants were developing the foundation funding matrix, another legislatively created group, the Task Force to Joint Committee on Educational Facilities, was meeting to address needs specific to school facilities. In November 2004, the Task Force released its final report, which included information on general operations and maintenance (O&M) cost estimates. The report noted the findings of the 32nd Annual Maintenance and Operations Study conducted by American School and University Magazine (published in 2003). That national study found that, on average, the cost of school district O&M is approximately 9% of a district's expenditures. Therefore the Task Force recommended that districts dedicate this amount of their operating expenditures "exclusively for custodial/maintenance operations" and noted that "dedicated funding must be provided" at the cited level. 23 The report noted that "deferred maintenance is a key element driving the cost of current [facilities] deficiencies and repairs."

The General Assembly then passed Act 1426 of 2005, which included the finding that "in order to satisfy the constitutional expectations of the Arkansas Supreme Court, the state should...[r]equire school districts to conserve and protect their academic facilities in such a manner that the academic facilities remain adequate." The Act also called for the creation of an Academic Facilities Custodial, Maintenance, Repair, and Renovation Manual and requires the manual to provide standards for the maintenance of school buildings.

Act 1426 also introduced the new requirement that districts spend at least 9% of their foundation funding to pay for utilities, custodial services, maintenance, repair, and renovation. Districts that do not

²³ Arkansas Statewide Educational Facilities Assessment (November 4, 2004). Final Report to the Joint Committee on Educational Facilities, p. 4 and 9.

spend the required 9% must transfer unspent funds into an escrow account to be used for future O&M expenses.

In 2006, Picus and Associates recommended providing \$594 per student for O&M to cover the cost of custodians, maintenance workers, groundskeepers, maintenance supplies, and utilities.

The Adequacy Subcommittee, however, determined that the consultants' recommendations were based on costs in higher priced geographical areas of the country and on more duties than are required in Arkansas. The House and Senate Interim Committees on Education asked the Academic Facilities Oversight Committee to study the issue further. The Academic Facilities Oversight Committee then recommended setting the O&M funding at 9% of the foundation funding rate to mirror the statute established by Act 1426 of 2005. This amount included funding to support a director of O&M and a secretary.

In addition to the 9% for O&M, the 2006 Adequacy Subcommittee also recommended providing \$27 per student for property insurance. The amount for property insurance was derived through a calculation made in January 2007, when DESE analyzed the total expenditures by school districts for property insurance. The total was divided by the total number of students, with the result being \$27 expended per student. The 2006 Adequacy Subcommittee also recommended that districts be required to spend the \$27 per student only on property insurance. That recommendation never became law, but in 2007, the General Assembly required the Commission for Arkansas Public School Academic Facilities and Transportation to promulgate rules to establish a property insurance requirement.²⁴ Rule 4.01 of DESE's "Rules Governing Property Insurance Requirements" requires all school districts to have risk property coverage for school district buildings, structures, and their contents. District property must be insured for at least 90% of the replacement cost to be eligible for state facilities funding assistance administered by the Arkansas Commission for Public School Academic Facilities and Transportation.

The O&M funding level, therefore, was established to include 9% of foundation, plus the cost of property insurance. When the General Assembly established the O&M funding level in 2006, the overall foundation funding level had not been finalized. The Legislature calculated an O&M amount based on a total foundation funding rate they knew would exceed the final number to make sure the O&M funding level would be at least 9%. The total O&M amount in 2008 and 2009 was set at \$581 per student, which included \$554 for the 9% of foundation funding and \$27 for property insurance.

Since 2009, the per-student rate set for O&M has increased most years. The 2021 Adequacy Report recommended increases to \$723.30 for fiscal year 2022 and \$741.30 for fiscal year 2023.

Central Office

When Picus and Associates attempted to specify an adequate funding level for the central office, the consultants noted that when they completed their first report for Arkansas in 2003, little research existed on the number of people and resources necessary for the central office. The issue was further complicated, they said, by the fact that some district office personnel, such as special education directors and federal coordinators, are partially funded with federal dollars.

In 2006, the consultants contended, based on research completed in 2005, that a district of 3,500 students would need a central office staff of 17 people. Prorating to a district size of 500 students, Picus and Associates reasoned, would require one-seventh of that staffing level, costing \$328 per student.

²⁴ A.C.A. § 6-21-114(d)(2)(A).

Another \$263 per student would be needed for other miscellaneous central office needs, for a total of \$591 per student.

The consultants' recommendation was based on a prototypical district of 3,500 students, but in Arkansas in 2006, only 26 of the districts, or 11%, had 3,500 or more students. To test the appropriateness of the recommended funding level for Arkansas schools, DESE obtained 2005-06 central office expenditures and personnel counts for districts with an average daily membership (ADM) between 3,000 and 4,000. The average number of personnel was 17.82. The average total central office cost was \$395 per ADM.

Based on this information, the Adequacy Subcommittee determined that the consultants' figures were "inflated because they were based on higher-priced geographical areas and on more duties than are required in Arkansas." The Subcommittee instead recommended that central office expenses be funded at \$376 per student for 2008. This figure represented the \$395 per student in actual costs, less \$19 per student for the Director of O&M and a secretary position that were included as part of the O&M line of the matrix.

In the years since 2008, the General Assembly increased the central office per-student funding level annually through 2015, with another increase in 2017. The 2021 Adequacy Report recommended an increase to \$447.60 for fiscal year 2022 and \$456.50 for fiscal year 2023.

Transportation

In their 2006 report, the consultants recommended funding transportation at \$286 per student, based on districts' actual 2005 transportation expenses inflated for 2008. The General Assembly authorized \$286 per student for transportation beginning in 2008. Transportation funding within the matrix remained at \$286 per student through 2009, but was increased each subsequent year through 2015. The rate of change for these increases for transportation tracked the overall Foundation Funding rate of change for the years 2010 through 2013, but have not tracked in subsequent years. In fact, since 2015 the per-student rate for transportation has remained unchanged at \$321.20, and the overall Foundation Funding per-student rate has increased each year since 2015.

While the per-student rate has remained the same since 2015, supplemental funding has been provided to districts in some years beyond the transportation funding provided within foundation funding. The supplemental funding is discussed in a separate section below.

In their 2006 report, the consultants noted that while the state transportation expenditures averaged around \$286 per ADM, individual districts' expenditures varied considerably, from a low of \$67 to a high of \$695 per student. In a June 2006 presentation, the consultants recommended that the General Assembly collect better data on transportation operations and develop a funding formula based on student density, mileage, or hours of operation, rather than on ADM. They recommended that the General Assembly consider moving the funding for transportation out of the matrix to be funded separately. Although each biennial Adequacy Study since 2006 has examined transportation expenditures, the General Assembly has not altered the funding distribution method.

CATEGORICALS

In addition to foundation funding, districts receive four types of state categorical funding. Three of the four categorical funds are used to promote equitable funding among school districts by helping schools educate students with particular needs. The fourth categorical fund is designed to pay districts for providing staff professional development.

English Language Learners

Federal Law Prior to 2003

The 2002 No Child Left Behind Act required teachers of English language learners (ELL) to be certified as English language proficient and that curricula be demonstrated as effective. The act targeted federal funds to be used for teaching ELL and gave local districts the flexibility to choose their method of instruction. The act also established achievement objectives for ELL students and set English language proficiency as the objective. Additionally, No Child Left Behind required reading and language arts assessments of children in English and enforced accountability requirements. Finally, it required that parents be notified why their child needed specialized language instruction and for parents to have the right to choose among instructional programs if options are available.²⁵

Arkansas Funding for ELL

In 2003, Picus and Associates recommended that the state provide additional funding to school districts to support the equivalent of 40% of a full-time teacher (.4 FTE) for every 100 students who were both ELL and FRL students, or about \$195 per qualifying student. The General Assembly adopted the recommendation, but with funding provided for all ELL students, regardless of whether they were FRL students. School districts began receiving funding in 2004-05.

When Picus and Associates made recommendations in 2006, they recommended increasing ELL funding to support one full-time teacher for every 100 ELL students, regardless of FRL status. The Adequacy Study Oversight Subcommittee opted to adopt a 50% increase for the ELL per-student funding rate. The subcommittee reasoned that while districts were spending more money on ELL programs than they were provided in ELL funding, financial data showed that districts had significant balances of ESA (then National School Lunch) funding, which was meant to supplement ELL funding.

Since 2006, the per-student ELL funding rate has increased 2% per year in most years, though not all years. Generally, the ELL per-student funding rate has been set at about 5% of each year's foundation funding rate.

Changes based on Every Student Succeeds Act

The federal Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) of 2015 required new uses of ELL funding, including providing and implementing other effective activities and strategies that enhance or supplement new language instruction educational programs for ELL students. These strategies must include parent, family, and community engagement activities.

ESSA also led to Arkansas's exit criteria changing beginning in the 2019 school year. Previously, a student who tested proficient on the ELPA21 was allowed to exit the ELL program only if he/she meet three requirements: 1) maintained a "C" average or higher in each core subject area; 2) scored "ready" or "exceeding" on state standardized achievement scores; and 3) received a recommendation to exit by two current teachers. ESSA requires that states use standardized criteria for students to exit and enter ELL programs. Currently, Arkansas requires that a student must score at the proficient level on the ELPA21 and demonstrate academic content proficiency using two pieces of supporting evidence.

²⁵ U.S. Department of Education (September 11, 2006). *New* No Child Left Behind *Regulations: Flexibility and Accountability for Limited English Proficient Students*. https://www2.ed.gov/admins/lead/account/lepfactsheet.html.

ESSA also requires districts and charters to monitor former ELL students for at least four years, an increase from two years.

Additionally, ESSA changed the way ELL students are included in the state's accountability system. The state's ESSA plan includes three student success measures related to ELL: 1) progress toward English language proficiency, 2) student achievement on academic content, and 3) the graduation rate. ESSA also requires states to identify schools with any "consistently underperforming" student subgroups, including ELL students. These schools are designated as needing "Targeted Support and Improvement." Schools are identified if they have significant achievement gaps between student subgroups for at least two years.

According to the state's ESSA plan, DESE indicated that its long-term goal is to raise the performance of the schools currently performing in the 25th percentile to match the current performance of schools at the 75th percentile. This long-term goal was one of the amendments DESE requested in 2019 for its ESSA plan. The change did not alter the end goal, but did move the baseline year from 2017 to 2018 and delayed the end goal year from 2029 to 2030. DESE indicated that the data used to set the long-term targets continued to be affected by the switch from the ELDA assessment to ELPA21 in 2016. The ELPA21 English language proficiency assessment replaced the English Language Development Assessment (ELDA) in 2015-16. DESE believes that the ELPA21 proficiency scores provide a more accurate measure of a student's true English-language proficiency than the ELDA.

Recent Changes in Arkansas ELL Approach

Act 989 of 2017 allowed an educator to communicate with a student in the student's native language in order to facilitate the student's ability to become proficient and learn in the English language. Prior to passage of the act, teachers could be fined for communicating with a student in the student's native language.

Act 663 of 2021 allows districts and charters to adopt an approved bilingual program or dual-immersion program.

Alternative Learning Environments

Alternative Learning Environment (ALE) funding began in Arkansas under Act 59 of the Second Extraordinary Session of 2003. ALE funding is meant to cover additional costs "to eliminate traditional barriers to learning for students."

Act 59 required DESE to promulgate rules to determine how ALE funding should be distributed as well as how students should be identified for ALE participation. Schools receive ALE funding for full-time equivalent students (FTEs). Except for a few years, FTEs have included only those students who are in the alternative learning environment for 20 consecutive days. (For a brief period, the law was changed to 20 days total, but Act 1118 of 2011 made the change back to consecutive days.) While some students may attend alternative learning environments for a full day for the full year, many attend the program for partial days and/or for part of the year.

Act 59 set an initial level of ALE funding at \$3,250 per ALE student to support a teacher-pupil ratio of 1 to 15 for ALE students in 7-12 grades and a 1 to 10 ratio for kindergarten through sixth grade. In addition, the General Assembly appropriated nearly \$16 million for ALE funding, increasing the existing \$3 million annual appropriation for alternative education to almost \$19 million.

In 2006, the General Assembly increased the funding to support one teacher for every 12 ALE students beginning in the 2007-08 school year due to changes in the student-count methodology and complaints that ALE programs were underfunded. However, even though funding increased, the 2003 mandated student-to-teacher ratios remained in place and are still the same today.

Moreover, because increases in ALE funding have most often not kept pace with foundation funding, ALE funding often does not support one teacher for every 12 ALE students.

The 2020 Adequacy Study recommended ALE funding levels of \$4,794 for the 2022 school year and \$4,890 for the 2023 school year for a 2% increase each year.

Enhanced Student Achievement

ESA Funding

The General Assembly originally passed Enhanced Student Achievement (ESA) funding in the Second Extraordinary Session of 2003. The General Assembly created ESA funding (then National Student Lunch funding) and appropriated the first funds for the 2004-05 school year.

ESA funding came out of recommendations from consultants Picus and Associates, who argued that districts with high concentrations of poverty need additional resources. The consultants recommended that the state provide additional funding for two purposes: teacher tutors and pupil support personnel (guidance counselors, nurses, social workers, family outreach workers). In their 2003 report, Picus and Associates noted that for struggling students, "the most powerful and effective strategy is individual one-to-one tutoring provided by licensed teachers." The consultants recommended that the state fund one fully licensed teacher tutor for every 100 FRL students, with a minimum of one for each school. The consultants also recommended the state fund extended-day and summer-school programs as secondary measures if the tutoring strategy was not fully sufficient.

In addition, the consultants noted that schools need a strategy for student support services and family outreach, and that the strategy should be based on each district's level of poverty. The consultants recommended, based on the general standard, that the state fund two full-time employee positions for every 100 FRL students—essentially, one teacher tutor and one pupil support services full-time employee total.

In the Second Extraordinary Session of 2003, the General Assembly passed Act 59, which turned the staffing level into a dollar amount for each FRL student. The levels funded one full-time employee position for districts with FRL concentrations below 70%, two FTE positions for districts with FRL concentrations between 70% and less than 90%, and three FTE positions for districts with FRL concentrations at 90% and above. Between 2003 and 2021, the General Assembly has increased the three per-student rates five times (2008, 2012, 2013, 2016, and 2017). In the 2020 Adequacy Report, the General Assembly recommended increasing the ESA funding rates by 1.16% for each concentration for both fiscal year 2022 and fiscal year 2023.

Act 1083 of 2019 changed the name of the funding from National School Lunch state categorical funding to Enhanced Student Achievement Funding. The act did not change the purpose of the funding or mandate that DESE promulgate new rules related to ESA funding.

In addition to ESA funding, the state has three other related state funding programs: ESA transitional adjustments, ESA growth funding, and ESA matching grants. ESA transitional adjustments and ESA growth funding are discussed in more detail later in this section, ESA matching grants are discussed later in the report in the section on Additional Funding for Matrix and Categorical Items.

ESA Funding Allowable Uses

Throughout the history of ESA funding, ESA funding has been restricted, meaning the funding has been limited to certain allowable uses. Act 59 of the Second Extraordinary Session of 2003 included a list of allowable expenditures, along with the requirement that the State Board of Education (SBOE) promulgate rules related to ESA funding prior to June 1, 2004.

The original rules, effective June 14, 2004, require that funds must "be expended for eligible program(s) or purpose(s) that are research-based and aligned to the Arkansas Content Standards for improving instruction and increasing achievement of [ESA] identified students at risk of not meeting challenging academic standards either existing or new." The rules specifically addressed increasing achievement of ESA identified students at risk. July 2010 updates to the rule took out the ESA requirement, but still required that funds be expended for "improving instruction and increasing achievement of students at risk of not meeting challenging academic standards." Rules modified on July 2, 2020, contained the same requirement.

The legislature passed Act 1082 in 2019, which mandated that the list of approved programs established prior to passage of the act expires as of June 30, 2022. The practical effect of the act was that, in the absence of action by the General Assembly in the 2021 legislative session, ESA funds would have become effectively unrestricted.

However, the General Assembly took action on ESA funds by passing Act 322 of 2021. Under Act 322, school districts must spend funds in accordance with DESE rules to provide supports and resources enumerated in the statute, including enhancements to teacher salaries (assuming the district is in compliance with the minimum salary schedule), academic supports and interventions, social emotional and behavioral supports, physical and mental health resources, early intervention resources, and access to postsecondary opportunities. School districts must also submit a three-year enhanced student achievement plan to DESE describing the district's intended and implemented strategies. DESE is required to monitor the implementation and progress of the district plans and may impose sanctions if a district is not demonstrating progress.

Act 322 also changed DESE's reporting requirement. Previously, DESE was required to report on the impact of ESA funding on closing the achievement gap. Under Act 322, DESE is required to report on the progress of school districts in meeting plan goals.

Other Related State Funding

ESA Transitional Adjustments

ESA transitional adjustments began with Act 811 of 2007. Districts with FRL percentages that are close to the funding rate break points (for example, 69%-70% and 89%-90%) can easily shift between rates from one year to the next, resulting in significant gains or losses in funding. Transitional adjustments allows districts moving from a higher or lower funding rate to receive adjustments over a three-year period, to ensure that districts shift to a higher or lower rate gradually, rather than all at once.

ESA Growth Funding

ESA funding is based on prior year's enrollment data, which means that growing districts receive ESA funds for a smaller number of students than they are responsible for educating. Act 2283 of 2005 created a provision that provides additional ESA funding for growing districts. Districts that have grown at least one percent in total enrollment each of the last three years qualify for ESA growth funding.

Professional Development

History of Funding and Professional Development Generally

In the Second Extraordinary Session of 2003, the General Assembly passed multiple laws related to professional development, following recommendations from Picus and Associates' 2003 report.

The report recommended additional funding for professional development, arguing that "improving teacher effectiveness through high quality professional development is arguably as important as all of the other resource strategies identified." The report outlined four strategies for implementing an effective professional development program: 1) time during the summer for intensive training institutes; 2) on-site coaching for all teachers; 3) collaborative work with teachers in their schools during planning and preparation periods; and 4) funds for trainings.

Act 83 of the Second Extraordinary Session of 2003 defined professional development and its purposes in statute, as well as requiring districts to prepare a professional development plan with involvement from teachers, administrators, and classified school employees. Act 59 of the Second Extraordinary Session of 2003 extended the basic teacher contract length to 190 days (previously 185), and included a total of 10 professional development days. The General Assembly added approximately \$101 per student to the teacher salary funding to pay for the additional days. In addition, Act 59 provided \$50 per student in professional development funding, or \$25,000 for the prototypical school of 500 students, to bring in trainers, pay for travel costs associated with intensive summer institutes, and cover other miscellaneous professional development costs. Act 59 also included funding for 2.5 instructional facilitators to help with the on-site coaching Picus and Associates recommended. Finally, Act 462 of the 2003 Regular Session required teachers to have planning time of no less than 200 minutes per week, in increments of no less than 40 minutes to allow for more collaborative work with other teachers.

Following 2003, the next big changes to professional development came in 2013, when the General Assembly significantly reduced the amount of professional development funding provided to districts. Act 2 of the First Extraordinary Session of 2013 reduced the amount of professional development funding from \$54 per student (the amount established for fiscal year 2015 during the 2013 regular session) to \$32.40 per student. The General Assembly reduced the amount to buoy the public-school employee insurance plan, and did so with the expectation that the SBOE would reduce the number of required professional development hours from 60 to 36. Subsequently, the SBOE changed DESE's Rules Governing Professional Development to require 36 hours of professional development.²⁶

In 2015, the General Assembly passed Act 44, which reduced the number of professional development days in the basic teacher contract from ten to no less than six. Even though the number of professional development days were reduced to six, the total number of contract days remains at 190.²⁷

Act 2131 of 2005 contained special language authorizing DESE to spend up to \$4 million of professional development funding to "develop and implement statewide professional development support systems for teachers that will benefit student achievement." The language was included in each Public School Fund appropriation bill until 2016, when it was removed to delete unnecessary language. 28 However, Act 1044 of 2017 re-added the special language and amended the law to require DESE to

²⁶ADE Rules Governing Professional Development. (February 2016).

²⁷ A.C.A. § 6-17-2402.

²⁸ Act 987 of 2015.

report back information to the state including annual expenditure information, statistics pertaining to users, course offerings, course hours completed, and certificate awarded. The new language also reduced the \$4 million to \$3.5 million, due to DESE's new grant review process. Act 1044 required that AETN, the current vendor for the statewide system, report the amount of grant monies that remain unspent at the end of each fiscal year.

Act 667 of 2019 increased the amount of professional development funding per student to \$40.80 beginning in 2020-2021, but also increased the amount of professional development funding available to Professional Learning Communities (PLCs). The history of PLCs will be discussed in a later section.

History of Specific Professional Development Requirements

Over time, the General Assembly has passed multiple laws related to specific requirements for professional development for all staff or certain staff. Those laws include:

- Act 1185 of 2005 allowed certified personnel to earn up to 12 hours of professional development credit for time required at the beginning of the school year for planning and preparing a curriculum and other instructional materials contingent on meeting certain requirements
- Act 1146 of 2011 added to the list of professional development objectives providing educators
 with knowledge and skills needed to teach students with disabilities, including but not limited to
 autism
- Act 1150 of 2011 added to the list of professional development objectives providing educators with knowledge and skills needed to teach culturally and linguistically diverse students
- Act 1209 of 2011 required teachers to complete any missed hours of professional development
 through professional development that meets certain requirements, created the Teacher
 Excellence and Support System process (including provisions to integrate professional
 development with the Teacher Excellence and Support System), and required professional
 learning plans to require that at least one half of professional development hours required for
 teachers be directly related to one or more of the teacher's content areas, applicable
 instructional strategies, or teacher's identified needs
- Act 1214 of 2011 required athletic coaches working in school districts to complete training every three years on concussions, dehydration, or other health emergencies; environmental issues that threaten the health or safety of students; and communicable diseases
- Act 969 of 2013 established that one of the following topics is required for educators each year
 on a rotating basis over four years (previously some of the topics were required annually): two
 hours on child maltreatment, two hours on parental involvement, two hours on teen suicide
 awareness and prevention, and two hours on Arkansas history (to teachers who provide
 instruction in Arkansas history)
- Act 1294 of 2013 required all teachers to receive training on dyslexia by 2014-15
- Act 427 of 2017 provided initial funding for PLCs
- Act 765 of 2017 required that districts make available 30 minutes of professional development on human trafficking annually
- Act 1063 of 2017 requires districts and open-enrollment public charters to provide professional development in specific scientific reading instruction (RISE)
- Act 1013 of 2017 added training on sudden cardiac arrest to the required training for athletic coaches
- Act 83 of 2019 changed the RISE requirements

- Act 666 of 2019 changed language in all statutes referencing professional development to include professional learning credit (which can include real-world experience like micro-credentialing to meet professional development requirements)
- Act 1029 of 2019 required two hours of professional development for licensed public-school personnel in bullying prevention and recognition of the relationship between incidents of bullying and risk of suicide

ADDITIONAL FUNDING FOR MATRIX AND CATEGORICAL ITEMS

Additional Enhanced Student Achievement

In addition to ESA funding, the General Assembly has supplemented the existing ESA funds with additional funding for a separate matching grant program to be used to help districts provide tutoring services, pre-kindergarten programs, and before- and after- school programs. The matching grants began in fiscal year 2018, when the General Assembly funded \$4.3 million in matching grants. The General Assembly also provided \$4.3 million for fiscal year 2019, and authorized up to \$5.3 million for fiscal years 2020 through 2023.²⁹

Special Education High-Cost Occurrences Funding

Prior to the Lake View case and the 2003 Picus and Associates recommendations, Arkansas provided funding for special education services. Beginning with Act 39 of 1971, Arkansas gave districts the option and support to voluntarily provide special education services if they had more than five eligible students in their district or among multiple districts. Act 102 of 1973 mandated that districts provide special education services to eligible children aged 6-21 years.

Act 39 provided funding to districts that chose to have special education programs, initially made through reimbursements to the district based on a schedule including special class units, speech therapy units, homebound instruction, educational examiners, and special education administration. Later, the funding changed to a weighted system for all districts that included different weights based on the types of instruction provided: itinerant, resource room, self-contained rooms (with varying ratios), and special day school.

In their 2003 recommendations, Picus and Associates noted that districts receive the same amount of foundation funding for special education regardless of the severity of students' disabilities. The consultants recommended supplemental funding for students with severe and multiple disabilities, noting that these students do not occur in equal percentages in all districts. The consultants recommended that the state fund the entire cost of such students.

When the consultants made their recommendations, the state provided additional state aid, then called Catastrophic Occurrences funding, when the cost of educating a student exceeded \$30,000 of district expenditures. However, \$30,000, the consultants noted, was far more than districts received in state equalization aid (the state funding mechanism at the time), placing a significant financial burden on the districts. The consultants recommended that the state reduce the expenditure threshold. Based on that recommendation, the SBOE approved new rules in 2004 that changed the threshold to \$15,000, making more students' costs eligible for reimbursement. To support the change, the General Assembly

²⁹ Act 154 of 2020 and Act 1006 of 2021.

increased the Catastrophic Occurrences funding appropriation from \$1 million for fiscal year 2004 to \$9.8 million for fiscal year 2005.

In 2006, the consultants returned and recommended continuing Catastrophic Occurrences funding, as well as affirming the new \$15,000 threshold and the cap on funding at \$100,000 per child.

In the 2018 Adequacy Report, the House and Senate Education Committees gave different recommendations for special education funding. The House recommended adding \$4 million to Catastrophic Occurrence funding for a total of \$17,020,000 in fiscal year 2020, with the understanding that the amount could be changed during budget hearings. The Senate recommended no change from the fiscal 2019 funding level of \$13,020,000. The General Assembly opted to adopt the Senate's recommendation; Act 877 of 2019 appropriated \$13.02 million for Special Education High-Cost Occurrences for fiscal year 2020.

Act 757 of 2019 changed the name of special education Catastrophic Occurrences funding to special education High-Cost Occurrences funding.

In 2019, DESE changed the formula for calculating High-Cost Occurrence funding. Prior to the 2019-20 school year, districts qualified for funding for any student who needs more than \$15,000 worth of services; after Medicaid, federal Individual with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) Part B funding and available third-party funding was applied. The maximum amount of reimbursement a district or charter could receive was 100% of the first \$15,000, 80% of the amount between \$15,000 and \$50,000, and 50% of the costs between \$50,000 and \$100,000. No special education High-Cost Occurrence was eligible for more than \$100,000 each year.

The formula in the new rules calls for districts to receive 0% for the first \$15,000, 100% of the expenditures between \$15,000 and \$65,000, and 80% of expenditures above \$65,000 (with a reimbursement cap of \$100,000). For fiscal years 2022 and 2023, the 2020 Adequacy Report recommended an increase in High-Cost Occurrences funding of 3.7% for each year, for a funding amount of \$13,500,000 in fiscal year 2022 and \$13,998,150 in fiscal year 2023.

Transportation

Supplemental transportation funding was first provided in the 2012 school year. Act 1075 of 2011 authorized a \$500,000 appropriation and special language that required DESE to allocate and commit \$500,000 in funding for extraordinary transportation needs of districts and develop rules and regulations to govern the distribution.

Legislative authorization for supplemental funding was not provided again until Act 987 of 2015 authorized an appropriation of \$3 million for enhanced transportation funding for 2015-16, as recommended by the House and Senate Education Committees in their 2014 Adequacy Study recommendations. The Committees specifically recommended creating a separate, supplemental funding program for districts with high transportation costs, with the total funding amount to be established at the equivalent of 2% of the total funding provided for transportation in 2015-16 and 2016-17 (about \$3 million each year) with the funding to be distributed by a method developed by the Bureau of Legislative Research. The General Assembly appropriated an additional \$3 million for enhanced transportation funding for both 2015-16 and 2016-17, 30 but a method of distributing the

³⁰ Act 987 of 2015 and Act 229 of 2016.

money to the districts was not specified in statute until the passage of Act 445 of 2017. While DESE received \$3 million in 2015-16 and 2016-17, DESE only distributed the funding to districts in 2016-17 using the distribution methodology enacted in Act 445.

The DESE continued the distribution of \$3,000,000 in enhanced transportation funding in 2017-18 and 2018-19, as required by Section 6 of Act 743 of 2017. The House and Senate Education Committees recommended a \$2,000,000 increase for enhanced transportation funding to \$5,000,000 for 2019-20 and 2020-21 in their 2018 Adequacy Study recommendations, and the General Assembly authorized this increase in appropriation to \$5,000,000 for enhanced transportation funding for 2019-20 in Act 877 of 2019. The General Assembly also authorized \$5,000,000 for enhanced transportation funding for 2020-21 in Act 154 of the 2020 fiscal session.

In the 2020 Adequacy Study, the House and Senate Education Committees recommended an increase to \$6,000,000 for fiscal year 2022 and \$7,200,000 for fiscal year 2023.

Additional Professional Development Funding

Beginning in the 2017-18 school year, DESE, in partnership with Solution Tree (a private organization that provides professional development resources, training, and support to K-12 educators), started the PLCs at Work Pilot Program. This was a result of recommendations from the 2016 Adequacy report. Funding was first provided by Act 427 of 2017, which required that additional funding provided for professional development above the amount required by statute (currently \$32.40 per student) shall be used by DESE for the development and administration of the PLCs. In 2017-18, this excess amount included \$4 million which was paid to Solution Tree to implement a pilot PLC program. In each school year since 2017-18, 10-12 additional schools and districts have been chosen from a rigorous application and evaluation process to participate in the program. In 2020-21, there were three cohorts of schools and districts participating in the program and Solution Tree received \$12.5 million to implement the program in those participating cohorts.

Enhanced Salary

In 2019, the General Assembly then passed Act 170 to increase the minimum teacher salary from \$31,800 to:

- \$32,800 in 2019-20,
- \$33,800 in 2020-21,
- \$34,900 in 2021-22 and
- \$36,000 in 2022-23.

To help districts meet the new minimum salary schedule, the General Assembly authorized \$60 million in existing funding to be spent from the Educational Adequacy Fund over the next four years.

In 2021, the General Assembly passed Acts 679 and 680, creating the Teacher Salary Equalization Fund to provide public school districts and open-enrollment charter schools with additional restricted funding dedicated to increasing teacher salaries and reducing disparities in teacher salaries within the state and compared to surrounding states.

DECLINING, GROWTH, AND ISOLATED FUNDING

Arkansas provides three types of funding to help schools handle the challenges related to changes in enrollment or geography: isolated funding, student growth funding, and declining enrollment funding.

Isolated Funding

Isolated funding is supplementary money provided to school districts with low enrollment or geographic challenges, such as rugged road systems or low-student density, which increase certain costs. There are three types of isolated funding: isolated funding, special needs isolated (SNI) funding, and SNI—transportation funding.

Isolated funding first originated in Act 42 of the First Extraordinary Session of 1983. Act 42 of the First Extraordinary Session of 1983 required that a district meet certain millage requirements, but those have since been removed.

Act 60 of the Second Extraordinary Session of 2003 removed the ability for school districts to qualify for isolated funding; Act 60 mandated that all school districts with fewer than 350 students were to be annexed into or consolidated into another school district. Because of Act 60, many school districts that qualified for isolated funding prior to Act 60 would be required to consolidate because their prior year ADM fell below the 350 student requirement. In response to concerns about districts losing isolated funding, the General Assembly passed Act 65 of the Second Extraordinary Session of 2003.

Act 65 identified 56 "isolated school areas" that had been isolated districts before the districts were required to consolidate. In addition to identifying the districts with their corresponding isolated school areas, Act 65 also stipulated the per-pupil amount of funding that would be paid to each district (amounts that are still in effect).

Act 60 of the Second Extraordinary Session of 2003 resulted in fewer districts that qualified for isolated funding, but legislators argued there were still isolated school funding needs. As a result, the General Assembly passed Act 1452 of 2005, which created a new form of funding for isolated schools called special needs isolated (SNI) funding.

Act 60 also prevented reorganized school districts that received isolated schools in formerly isolated districts from closing the acquired isolated schools. Therefore, the challenge of educating students in isolated schools did not disappear. Act 1397 of 2005 created a process that allows school districts to close an isolated school if the school district's school board voted unanimously to do so. If the vote for closure is less than unanimous but represents a majority of the school board members, the SBOE would decide on the matter based on what is best for all students in the district as a whole.

Following Act 1397 of 2005, there were concerns about the continuance of isolated funding for a closed isolated school area. Although not legally binding, Arkansas Attorney General Opinion No. 2005-115 initially addressed this concern, stating that a "school district that completely closes an isolated school will receive no additional funds for that school." Attempts at clarifying the issue led to Act 1131 of 2011. The Act provides that if a district fully closes an isolated area, it will receive for the following school year an amount of money based on its isolated area's ADM of the preceding year. After that, because there would be no prior year ADM, the isolated funding ceases. However, if a district closes only part of an isolated school area, it gets only part of the money and continues to receive part of the funding as long as part of the isolated school area remains open. In addition, if a district closes and reopens an isolated school as an alternative learning environment or for regular classroom teaching, the funding could be applied for and reinstated based on the three-quarter ADM of the prior school year.

Act 1052 of 2007 created SNI—transportation funding to help isolated districts with transportation needs. After the isolated and SNI funds are distributed, any remaining funding is distributed to all SNI

districts that qualified for the 20%, 15%, or 10% categories of funding. This funding is limited to transportation expenses.

The impact of Act 60 has been mitigated by a couple of factors. First, school districts may still fall below the minimum prior year ADM threshold, but usually for a limited period of time as they face annexation or consolidation after two consecutive years with an ADM below 350. Second, school districts may also remain open despite not meeting the 350-student ADM threshold if they have a waiver. Act 377 of 2015 allows small school districts to apply for waivers from DESE on a yearly basis and permits these small school districts to remain open for longer than two years with fewer than 350 students. This statute creates the potential to increase the number of districts receiving isolated funding; a school district may apply for isolated school district status, but DESE must first determine if the school district meets the necessary criteria before it may qualify for isolated funds.

The most recent legislative change to SNI funding came through Act 129 of 2017, which changed the density ratio requirement for the 20% funding category.

Student Growth Funding

Student growth funding began in Arkansas in 1995. A 1994 task force, made up of members of the General Assembly and the SBOE, heard concerns from teacher, administrator, and school board associations. Northwest Arkansas residents raised concerns about funding the growing population in that area of the state.³¹

Act 917 of 1995 created a mechanism to determine how growth funding would be distributed to districts and later to charter schools; in addition, the General Assembly funded \$29 million in student growth funding. The original student growth calculation was based on comparing first quarter ADM of the current year to the previous year ADM for the first three quarters. The calculation has changed multiple times since 1995. Act 741 of 2017 contained the last change to the student growth funding calculation.

Act 741 of 2017 also contained a provision that can reduce the amount of student growth funding that some districts receive. The affected districts are those that generate enough revenue from their Uniform Rate of Tax (URT) that they do not receive state foundation funding aid. If any of these districts are eligible for student growth funding, Act 741 requires their student growth funding to be reduced by the amount of revenue the districts generate (URT and other related funding) above the foundation funding amount.

Act 933 of 2017 impacted charter school student growth funding. Prior to Act 933, charter schools that were newly opened or added new grades received foundation funding based on current year ADM, rather than prior year ADM, to accommodate the additional new students. In these cases, charter schools did not receive student growth funding, since the current foundation funding amount provided for the new students. Act 933 expanded the triggers under which a charter receives funding based on

³¹ Reinholds, C. (June 28, 1994). Ideas to Pad School Funds Flood Panel New Money Vital, State Leaders Agree. *Arkansas Democrat-Gazette*.

³² Act 917 of 1995.

³³ Act 59 of the Second Extraordinary Session of 2003; Act 2283 of 2005, Act 272 of 2007, Act 461 of 2007, Act 1501 of 2009, Act 741 of 2017.

current year ADM to include charter schools operating under a new license (e.g. issued when an existing charter opens a new campus in another school district) and the first year of adding a new campus.

Declining Enrollment Funding

Declining enrollment first became a topic of discussion in Arkansas in the Special Masters 2005 report. The Special Masters noted "a loss of students does not necessarily translate into a reduction in the district's financial need."

The Adequacy Study Oversight Subcommittee held hearings on issues related to declining enrollment in February and March 2006. In April 2006, the General Assembly passed Acts 20 and 21 of the First Extraordinary Session of 2006. Those acts created declining enrollment funding and appropriated \$10 million for it.

The \$10 million appropriation was intended to be a temporary measure, providing funding until the funding's effectiveness could be studied further. In August 2006, the Adequacy Study Oversight Subcommittee conducted further study, examining districts that qualified for funding, population trends in Arkansas counties, and other states' declining enrollment funding programs.

The Adequacy Study Oversight Subcommittee, in its final 2006 Adequacy Report (published in January 2007), recognized that districts with declining enrollments (and thus declining revenues) do not always have similar decreases in costs. The Subcommittee further stated that because foundation funding is based on prior-year ADM, districts already receive a "cushion" for the loss of students. A district that has fewer students this year than in the previous year is still receiving foundation funding for the number of students from the previous year; the district is receiving funding for more students than the district is responsible for educating. Still, the Subcommittee's report recommended that the state continue to pay declining enrollment funding while engaging in further study.

Since 2007, no changes have been made to declining enrollment funding. In 2020, both the House and Senate Education Committees recommended no changes to declining enrollment funding.

While declining enrollment has not changed, the limitations on receiving multiple types of enrollment-related funding have changed. During its 2021 Regular Session, the General Assembly passed Act 909, which allows a district to receive both declining enrollment funding and special needs isolated funding. ³⁴ Previously, districts could only receive either declining enrollment or special needs isolated funding; under DESE rules, DESE awarded the funding that would provide the district with the higher amount of funding, which was almost always isolated funding. ³⁵

Accountability Programs

Arkansas has three accountability systems for K-12 education: the Arkansas Educational Support and Accountability Program, the Fiscal Assessment and Accountability Program (fiscal distress), and facilities distress. Each of the program is discussed below.

³⁴ Act 909 of 2021.

³⁵ Arkansas Department of Education Rules Governing Declining Enrollment and Student Growth Funding for Public School Districts, Section 4.04 (January 1, 2019).

STATE ACCOUNTABILITY SYSTEM: ARKANSAS EDUCATIONAL SUPPORT AND ACCOUNTABILITY PROGRAM

Accountability in Arkansas dates back to 1983 and the Arkansas Supreme Court ruling *Dupree v. Alma* that found the state's school funding system to be unconstitutional. In response to the ruling, the General Assembly increased school funding, but also passed laws to make sure schools were making proper use of those additional dollars.

Act 445 of 1983 mandated standardized testing of students in 3rd, 6th, and 8th grades. Failure to meet the new standards for accreditation could result in a district being dissolved or annexed into another district.

In addition, Act 54 of 1983 called for 85% of a school's tested students to pass the mandated Minimum Competency Test or to enter into a school improvement program with ADE.

Act 999 of 1999 strengthened the state's accountability efforts. The act created the Arkansas Comprehensive Testing, Assessment and Accountability Program (ACTAAP), which addressed components across the education system—everything from professional development requirements for teachers to curricular and graduation requirements for Arkansas students.

Act 999 required additional testing to help judge school performance, as well as help the state comply with federal requirements. Students in grades 3-8 would be tested in English language arts and math with additional tests in science at grades 5 and 7, end-of-course exams for geometry and Algebra I students and a literacy exam for all 11th graders. Students' scores fell into below basic, basic, proficient, or advanced categories. Initially, school districts would be labeled as being in academic distress—and face a spectrum of severe sanctions—if 75% or more of their students scored in the below basic category.

Despite the state's efforts, the state lagged near the bottom of national education rankings, a fact cited in the 2002 Lake View ruling by the Arkansas Supreme Court.³⁶ The court ruled that the state's school funding system failed to meet constitutional standards because it did not ensure access to an adequate and equitable system of education for all students. However, the court credited the state for having ACTAAP and called for continued strong implementation of the program. When the court ruled that the state had resolved the Lake View-related issues in 2007,³⁷ the status of ACTAAP contributed to the state's being deemed in compliance with constitutional standards.

ACTAAP continued in Arkansas with occasional tweaks until 2017. For example, in 2014, statutory changes and new rules approved by the SBOE tightened requirements by applying the academic distress label and related sanctions to both school and school districts that failed to have more than 49.5% of its students score proficient or higher on the state's standardized tests (the test itself transitioned from the Arkansas Benchmark Exam to a test created by a consortium of states to the current ACT Aspire).

Under ACTAAP, schools or school districts labeled as being in academic distress had five years to meet the 49.5% proficient threshold and resolve any other issues identified by the SBOE. If they failed, they would face consolidation, annexation, or reconstitution of the school or district—unless a majority of the SBOE found they were unable to meet the criteria due to factors beyond their control. In the

³⁶ Lakeview Sch. Dist. No. 25 v. Huckabee, 351 Ark. 31, 91 S.W.3d 472 (2002).

³⁷ Lakeview Sch. Dist. No. 25 v. Huckabee, 370 Ark. 139, 257 S.W.3d 879 (2007).

2016-17 school year, 15 schools, one district, and one charter school system were labeled as being in academic distress because they did not meet the 49.5% proficiency level.

Leading up to 2017, DESE worked with a number of stakeholders on its plan to comply with the federal Every Student Succeeds Act. At the same time, DESE created a new system a state accountability for Arkansas's schools. As has been the trend nationwide, Arkansas's new system provides schools and school districts with more autonomy and flexibility, more support from the state (as opposed to labels and sanctions) and multiple measures by which to prove their successes with students.

The General Assembly passed Act 930 of 2017, which codified the changes, repealed ACTAAP, and replaced it with the Arkansas Educational Support and Accountability Act.

FISCAL DISTRESS

Fiscal distress was originally created in Act 915 of 1995. The original program contained three phases: districts that did not file improvement plans with DESE, did not implement the district improvement plans according to DESE regulations, or failed to follow DESE recommendations moved into higher phases. In Phase III, DESE had the ability to replace a district's superintendent, act as the district's school board, or annex the district to another district.

Act 1467 of 2003 modified the fiscal distress program and eliminated the three phases that existed in the original program. Under Act 1467 of 2003, districts could remain in fiscal distress for two consecutive years. In 2013, Act 600 extended the amount of time a district could remain in distress from two years to five years.

Act 929 of 2019 broadened the focus of the Fiscal Assessment and Accountability Program. Prior to 2019, the goal of the program was to identify, assess, and address school districts in fiscal distress. Act 929 of 2019 created a new program to improve public school districts' finances through reviewing financial management practices of all public school districts, identifying and addressing districts in fiscal distress, and providing continuous support to districts returned to local control after being removed from the fiscal distress classification.

As of December 2021, three districts are currently in distress: Earle, Lee County, and Pine Bluff. The Dollarway School District was annexed to the Pine Bluff School District on July 1, 2021, after being in fiscal distress since April 14, 2016.

FACILITIES DISTRESS

In 2005, Act 1426 established the Academic Facilities Distress Program to provide the state with a mechanism to intervene when districts do not provide adequate academic facilities or comply with facilities rules. Facilities distress is one of two state programs (the other is fiscal distress) used to identify, correct, or sanction a district or school that has not maintained the health and safety of its academic facilities. Although schools or districts placed in facilities distress are given opportunities to address academic facilities issues, the facilities distress program allows the state to exert control over a noncompliant school or district by enforcing statutes regarding construction, health, safety, and other standards.

No individual schools have been placed in facilities distress, and, to date, only one school district has received that designation. In 2008, Hermitage School District was put in facilities distress due to building code and procurement law violations. After correction of the violations, Hermitage was removed from facilities distress in 2009.

Other Topics

WAIVERS

Charters were first envisioned in Arkansas law with Act 1126 of 1995, which was "to establish a procedure whereby local schools may be permitted to become charter schools and to operate under the charter provisions rather than under state and local rules, regulations, policies, and procedures...."

Open-Enrollment Charters

By 1999, no public schools had made the transformation to be a charter, ³⁸ so the General Assembly enacted Act 890 to authorize both the creation of open-enrollment public charter schools and the conversion of public schools to charter schools. The goal stated in the law included increasing learning opportunities for all students, encouraging innovative teaching methods and providing parents and students with expanded choice. Charters, which were to be performance-based contracts, were to be approved by the SBOE and could be issued for up to three years. Charters could be granted for a maximum of 12 open-enrollment charter schools in the state, with no more than three to be located in a single congressional district.

As far as waivers, eligible entities (higher education institutions, non-sectarian nonprofits) were to include in their applications the specific education laws found in Title 6 of the Arkansas Code and state and local rules from which they were requesting exemptions. The law specified several things for which waivers would not be granted:

- Monitoring for compliance with the charter school law
- Criminal background checks for employees
- High school graduation requirements as established by the SBOE
- Special education programs
- Public school accountability under the charter school law
- Health and safety codes as established by the SBOE and local governments

Federal law prohibits waivers from civil and disability rights laws.

Other requirements of open-enrollment public charter schools under Act 890 of 1999 included:

- Enrollment was not to exceed the maximum set in the charter
- Records of attendance must be kept and submitted to DESE according to state law
- Annual certified audits were to be prepared by June 30 of each year
- State moneys received by the charters were not to be used for any sectarian use or as collateral for debt
- All net assets of the charter school would be deemed property of the State in case of the school's closure

Legislation regarding open-enrollment public charter schools in subsequent years expanded the number of charter schools allowed in the state, changed reporting requirements and created new funding sources for facilities.

³⁸ Thompson, D. (February 15, 1999). Senators draft bill to help development of charter schools. Arkansas Democrat-Gazette.

In addition, legislation passed in 2005 and 2007 allowed eligible open-enrollment public charter schools to apply for licenses to open additional schools under their existing charters, a condition that means several current charters are systems with multiple campuses. Since 2005, initial charters could be approved for up to five years before facing renewal for up to another five years. In 2011, the renewal period for charters was expanded to up to 20 years.

Another significant change is that applications now are first submitted to the Charter Authorizing Panel as opposed to the SBOE. The panel was designed to deal with all charter school business, including applications for new schools or requests to change existing charters, and to make recommendations to the SBOE for final action. The SBOE can choose to review and overrule the panel's decisions or to approve them with no further hearings. When the Charter Authorizing Panel was first created by Act 509 of 2013, the Commissioner (now Secretary) of Education appointed DESE staff to serve on it. Act 462 of 2017 changed the makeup of the panel to allow individuals from outside the agency, at the will of the Secretary, to serve on the panel as well as DESE employees.

Conversion Charters

Conversion charter schools are traditional public schools that have applied to operate under a charter, usually with waivers from laws and rules governing Arkansas's education system. They enroll students from within the district in which they are located and are funded by the same tax base as other schools in their school district.

As stated earlier, conversion charter schools were the first charter schools envisioned in Arkansas law. Act 1126 of 1995 sought "to establish a procedure whereby local schools may be permitted to become charter schools and to operate under the charter provisions rather than under state and local rules, regulations, policies, and procedures...."

When no public school had used the law passed by the General Assembly four years earlier, Act 890 of 1999 authorized the creation of open-enrollment charter schools while still allowing public schools to convert to charter schools. The intent was to allow public schools to shed some of the state's education mandates in order to more nimbly implement innovative and alternative methods of learning and instruction. Charters could be issued for up to three years.

As it did for open-enrollment public charter schools, the law specified the following items for which waivers would not be granted:

- Monitoring for compliance with the charter school law
- Criminal background checks for employees
- · High school graduation requirements as established by the SBOE
- Special education programs
- Public school accountability under the charter school law
- Health and safety codes as established by the SBOE and local governments

A public school had to first have its application approved by the local school board, which would then forward the application to the SBOE. The law also considered certified teachers at the public school who might not wish to teach in a charter school environment. Certified teachers could not be transferred to or employed by the charter school if they objected. If there were no schools at the same level to which a teacher could transfer, then a vote by all certified teachers in the school would be called, with a majority of the certified teachers having to vote for implementation of the charter school for the application to proceed.

Among other things, Act 2005 of 2005 increased the time for which a conversion charter could be approved from up to three years to up to five. It also delineated three purposes for becoming a conversion charter school that conversion charters "may include" in their application, though they would not be limited to them:

- Adopting research-based school or instructional designs to improve student and school performance
- Addressing school improvement status/sanctions
- Partnering with other districts or schools to address students' needs in a geographical location or multiple locations.

Conversion charter schools, as with open-enrollment public charters, now submit applications to the Charter Authorizing Panel, which is appointed by the Secretary of DESE, rather than the SBOE. Charters for these schools can be approved for up to five years. No limit to the number of conversion charter schools that may exist in the state has been legislated.

Districts and Schools of Innovation

Districts and schools of innovation are public schools that are to implement innovative techniques to improve school and student performance. They, like both types of charters, may apply for waivers from a number of local and state rules and state laws to do so.

In 2013, Act 601 created districts and schools of innovation, which allowed these public educational entities to apply for and operate under waivers from many Arkansas laws and rules similarly to their charter counterparts. (Though the law allows the creation of districts of innovation, the applications approved so far are mostly for schools of innovation.)

Before the passage of the ESSA, federal law³⁹ allowed only charter schools to employ non-certified (but still highly qualified) teachers in core subjects, while schools of innovation had to continue to employ licensed teachers in those areas. Under the law, schools of innovation are no longer restricted from asking for the waiver from teacher licensure.

Act 601 stipulated that 60% of a school's eligible employees must be supportive of the innovation designation before the school district could submit a plan for that school. While charter school applications are submitted to the charter authorizing panel, school of innovation plans are submitted to and must be approved by the Secretary of Education alone. Initial approval is for four years, and four-year renewals are available after that.

Act 601 did not place a cap on the number of allowed schools of innovation. The law does state that schools of innovation are to specify goals and performance targets for the school, which may include:

- Reducing the achievement gap
- Increasing student participation in curriculum options
- Exploring new ways to expand students' college and career readiness
- Motivating students through innovative teaching and learning choices
- Transforming the school's culture and climate to lead to "transformative teaching and learning"

³⁹ Section 9101 of Public Law 107-110, Elementary and Secondary Education Act.

DESE's rules supporting Act 601 allow schools of innovation to request exemptions from "local policies and specific laws and rules ... to include any provision of law or rule governing public school districts which is required to implement or to support the school of innovation plan." ⁴⁰

Act 601 specifies that schools of innovation continue:

- Ensuring the same health, safety, civil rights and disability rights requirements are in place that apply to all other public schools
- Adhering to financial audit procedures required of all school districts
- Requiring criminal background checks for school employees and volunteers as is done in all public school districts
- Complying with open meetings and open records requirements
- Complying with purchasing limitations and requirements
- Providing instructional time that meets or exceeds the instructional time required by the SBOE
 unless granted an exception by the Secretary, and instructional time may include onsite, distance
 or virtual, and work-based learning on nontraditional school days or hours
- Providing data requested by DESE for generating reports
- Adhering to the Teacher Fair Dismissal Act

In 2017, the General Assembly passed Act 871, which further stipulated that schools of innovation are to understand and implement research-based practices of PLCs throughout the school. Act 815 of 2019 allows DESE to designate a school as a school of innovation if it has met the objectives outlined in its application within the prescribed timeline. The law further clarifies the education secretary may revoke a school of innovation designation if the school does not fulfill the plan outlined in its application.

Act 1240 Waivers

Legislation passed in 2015 introduced another, quicker pathway to waivers that school districts can now pursue. While any school could follow the months-long process to develop a plan and ask for any eligible waiver to become a conversion charter or a school of innovation, the new Act 1240 districts (the law does not apply to schools) could request the same waivers held by any open-enrollment charter that enrolls a student from within the school district's borders within a matter of months. DESE's application required schools to name the open-enrollment charter schools that hold the requested waiver.

Act 815 of 2019 amends much of Act 1240 of 2015 and now allows school districts to apply for any waiver that has been granted to any open-enrollment charter school in the state. The waivers may be granted for up to five years and, as under Act 1240, do not require lengthy planning or application processes.

Another education waiver created by legislation in 2015 is the minimum size school district waiver made possible by Act 377 of 2015. As the name implies, this waiver is granted specifically to allow a school district to operate below the 350 average-daily-membership threshold set by Act 60 of the Second Extraordinary Session of 2003. It does not provide waivers from any other laws or regulations.

CAREER AND TECHNICAL EDUCATION

Arkansas Code Annotated § 10-3-2102, which identifies what must be examined in the adequacy study, does not explicitly include a review and analysis of Career and Technical Education (CTE).

⁴⁰ Arkansas Department of Education Rules Governing Schools of Innovation, February 2016.

However, the definition of "educational adequacy" that serves as part of the basis for identifying the resources required for adequate funding includes the mandatory thirty-eight (38) Carnegie units defined by the Arkansas Standards of Accreditation to be taught at the high school level. The Standards require nine (9) units of sequenced CTE courses representing three (3) occupational areas.

Further, the first component of the definition of "adequacy" was amended by the Education Committee in 2016 and 2018 to include career and technical frameworks. A separate report on the Career and Technical Education program was provided in 2016, 2018, and 2020 at the request of the Education Committee.

CTE Governance Structure

Prior to 1997, career education was regulated by the Vocational and Technical Education Division which was part of DESE. Act 803 of 1997 separated vocational education from DESE and created the State Board of Workforce Education and Career Opportunities and transferred the Vocational and Technical Education Division to the newly created Department of Workforce Education.

Unlike most areas of K-12 education between 1997 and 2019, DESE and the SBOE were not responsible for approving, overseeing and regulating CTE. Under state statute, the Arkansas Department of Career Education (ARCareerEd) and the Career Education and Workforce Development Board were responsible for approving and monitoring career and technical education programs. The Workforce Development Board was responsible for adopting rules governing CTE programs, prescribing academic standards for CTE programs and teachers, approving CTE program and courses, and approving program funding. ARCareerEd was responsible for receiving and distributing federal and state funds intended to support CTE in secondary education and ensuring compliance with CTE program rules and standards. ARCareerEd was also responsible for visiting schools on a five-year rotating cycle to ensure schools' CTE programs were safe, appropriately equipped, and provided quality instruction. Because state statute specified that ARCareerEd's responsibility was secondary education, the agency did not monitor career education/exploration in elementary grades [K-6]; however, they did ensure schools with 7th and 8th grade students were scheduling time to offer Career Orientation and Keyboarding in those grade levels.

State statute required the Career Education and Workforce Development Board to coordinate with the SBOE "to ensure that academic, workplace, and technical skills create opportunities for a strong comprehensive education regardless of the student's ultimate career choice". ⁴³ State statute also required the Career Education and Workforce Development Board to coordinate with the Arkansas Higher Education Coordinating Board "to ensure that secondary and postsecondary career preparation is connected to create opportunities for a strong comprehensive education regardless of the student's ultimate career choice." ⁴⁴

After the Transformation and Efficiencies Act of 2019 (Act 910) was passed, the Department of Career Education was transferred to DESE and is now the Division of Career and Technical Education and is under the direction of the SBOE.⁴⁵

⁴¹A.C.A. § 25-30-102.

⁴² A.C.A. § 25-30-107.

⁴³ A.C.A. § 25-30-104.

⁴⁴ A.C.A. § 25-30-105(a).

⁴⁵ Section 1095 of Act 910 assigns the SBOE with the duty to provide "general supervision of career and technical education."

Act 910 also transferred the Office of Skills Development from the Division of Career and Technical Education to the Department of Commerce. The Office of Skills Development, operating under the direction of the Career Education and Workforce Development Board, is responsible for providing funding to Secondary Area Technical Centers, which provide secondary level CTE instruction, and for maintaining a list of approved industry certifications that secondary students may earn through participation in CTE programs.

Secondary Technical Career Centers

Secondary Technical Career Centers were first created in 1985 with the passage of Act 788. The purposes of the centers as specified in statute are:

- 1. Support economic, industrial, and employment development efforts;
- 2. Provide equity and substantially equal access to quality vocational programs; and
- 3. Improve school programs to assist schools in meeting accreditation standards.

Act 509 of 2017 created the statutory authority for school districts and vocational technical schools (defined to include vo-tech schools, technical institutes and two- and four-year colleges) to partner together to form "Workforce Development Center Authorities," which would operate one or more workforce development centers within their areas of operation. This statute recognized the Workforce Development Center Authorities as legal entities, empowers them to raise funds by issuing bonds and authorizes districts or communities to levy taxes to support a center. Workforce Development Centers, however, would not receive any existing Career Center funding, unless they were also approved as a Secondary Area Career Center. The Workforce Development Center Authority statute required the sponsoring entities to enter into an agreement filed with the Arkansas Secretary of State's office.

Act 545 of 2021 amended Arkansas Code Annotated § 6-51-302, requiring the SBOE to review recommendations from the Career Education and Workforce Development to establish new vocational centers to serve high school students. However, the centers are managed through the Department of Commerce, Office of Skills Development through an annual Memorandum of Understanding with DESE in collaboration with the Division of Career and Technical Education.

LEARNING EXPECTATIONS

Following *DuPree v. Alma School District*, Act 445 of 1983 significant strengthened the requirements both for which courses schools were expected to teach and which of those courses students must successfully complete to graduate. The SBOE approved the resulting Standards for Accreditation of Arkansas Public Schools the following year, which specifically listed the required-to-teach courses as well as the required-to-graduate courses.

The requirements were intended to be a baseline for what all schools were to provide students, not the ceiling. In addition, to help ensure equity for students regardless of where they lived in Arkansas, the new standards stipulated that any district with a high school that did not teach all of the required courses would risk annexation or consolidation with another school district.

The 1984 Standards outlined subjects to be taught in grades K-4, 5-8, and 9-12, with the high school offerings to include 38 units that must be taught at least every other year. That meant that schools not only had to show they had a designated teacher for the course, but at least one student had to be enrolled in the course for the entire unit of time. Schools could not simply say they were offering the course, but no one enrolled. Schools not teaching the required 38 courses were to be placed in

probationary status instead of being deemed accredited, and two consecutive years of probation could lead to penalties from the state.

In addition, course offerings were to include appropriate Advanced Placement courses and additional foreign language courses—both higher levels of the foreign language offered to meet the standards as well as additional languages. The new standards also increased graduation requirements from 16 units to 20, with 15 specifically required.

Following implementation of the new standards, about 30 small districts voluntarily consolidated with other districts in 1985 and 1986 due to their inability to teach all of the required courses.

When the Standards for Accreditation were revised in 1993, the 38 units that had to be taught (some only every other year) remained, and the graduation requirements inched up to 21. A student could pursue either of two tracks to graduation under the standards: a "traditional college-preparatory core" of classes or a "technical post-secondary core" curriculum.

By 2003, the state had to respond to the mandates of the new federal No Child Left Behind Act as well as to the first *Lake View* decision. The impact of these events could be seen in the 2005 Standards for Accreditation, which strengthened course requirements. Now, the curriculum at each public school had to include 38 units that must be taught each year, not only every other year. Two new graduation tracks, Smart Core with 22 required credits for graduation and Common Core (now known simply as "Core") with 21 required credits—were introduced. Both of these sets of classes were contained within the 38 units, but Smart Core required more rigorous coursework.

In 2008, the Arkansas Task Force on Higher Education Remediation, Retention, and Graduation Rates published a report of recommendations to increase the percentage of Arkansas adults holding bachelor's degrees. One of the recommendations was to improve high school students' preparation for college, specifically to have fewer students opting out of the state's more rigorous Smart Core graduation track. The period after 2010 was the first in several decades to see Arkansas boost its ranking among states in terms of percent of adults with bachelor's degrees, possibly due to the implementation of the report's many recommendations.

Beginning in 2009, students were automatically enrolled in Smart Core, with the ability to opt out with their parents' approval. By that same year, the Common Core curriculum was renamed to simply Core. The number of units required to graduate in the Core curriculum inched up to 22 from 21 because Core graduates now also had to take four years of math.

Act 835 of 2015 changed the mandate that schools must teach 38 units. The act allowed a high school to not teach one of the required 38 units if it could show that it had offered the course but that no one had signed up for, or remained enrolled in, the course. The pressure to have certified teachers on hand or to encourage students to enroll in less popular courses was alleviated for some schools and districts. Furthermore, according to DESE, if schools offer an unrequired course for a second year that no child enrolled in, the school could receive an accreditation violation notice.

In 2018, the Standards of Accreditation were revised; the list of specific courses that were approved to be taught and the list of courses required for graduation were removed from the rule, meaning that the legislature no longer has review authority over what those courses are. They are now maintained in a separate document annually approved by the SBOE while the rules still contain the number of required courses by content area.

Act 930 of 2017, which created a new accountability system for the state, maintained DESE responsibility to establish required courses and also the content (academic standards) taught within those courses. Instruction in all of the state's public schools is to be based on these standards. The standards are to be reviewed and revised periodically with input from Arkansas K-12 and higher education educators as well as from community members with professional experience related to the academic content area.

ADDITIONAL SPECIAL EDUCATION TOPICS

In addition to special education funding for teachers and High-Cost Occurrences, several other topics are relevant to special education. The topics discussed below are dyslexia screening requirements, Medicaid behavioral health and development disability systems reimbursement changes, the Succeed Scholarship, and special education teacher licensure changes.

Dyslexia Screening Requirements

Act 1294 of 2013 established the requirement that districts screen every K-2 student for dyslexia, and districts must screen others as required by DESE (for example, K-2 student who has moved to a new district and has not been screened or students in grade 3 or higher if dyslexia marker has been noted by their classroom teacher). Since the dyslexia screening requirement first went into effect for a full school year in the 2014-15 school year, there has been an increase in the number of students receiving intervention services for students identified with characteristics of dyslexia, which can qualify as a specific learning disability. In the 2014-15 school year, 89 districts and one charter reported dyslexia screening results. The districts and charter schools reported that 3,197 students were evaluated, and 957 received therapy for dyslexia. In the 2018-19 school year, 251 districts and charters reported that 30,645 students were evaluated, and 23,149 were currently receiving therapy for dyslexia, including some identified in previous years. DESE emphasizes that the dyslexia program is not a special education program and students with dyslexia characteristics are not necessarily special education students or are usually not considered special education students. Students identified with characteristics of dyslexia may be identified for therapy services, but they may not necessarily be identified for special education. Additionally, students who are eligible for some dyslexia interventions may not qualify through testing as dyslexic. They may only show some markers or traits of dyslexia.

Medicaid Behavioral Health and Development Disability Systems Reimbursement Changes

Changes to the state Medicaid behavioral health and developmental disability systems underwent multiple changes beginning in the 2016-17 school year that impact special education services.

One such change was a 90-minute a week cap on occupational (OT), physical (PT), and speech therapy (ST). Any services that exceed that amount require prior authorization. Since the new requirement went into effect in July 2017, some districts have come across an issue in which districts have to obtain prior authorization for services they provide that exceed the 90-minute cap. That is because some students receive OT, PT, and ST outside of school with a provider for medical purposes, but also receive the same services in school for educational purposes as part of their federally required IEP. When a student receives the same therapy in an outside provider's facility and in the school, both entities will bill Medicaid. The outside providers typically bill more frequently than the district, so the outside provider will likely bill for services first. When a district later bills for that same service, its therapy is combined with the outside provider's therapy. Typically, the therapy provided by the district does not exceed the 90-minute cap, but when combined with the provider's, it does. This creates a competitive environment for providers and districts to bill first.

In addition, schools are required to seek authorization from the primary care provider prior to offering and billing for services regardless of the minutes provided for Provider-led Arkansas Shared Savings Entity (PASSE) beneficiaries. However, PASSE beneficiaries are not required to have a primary care provider assigned—any provider member in the PASSE may act as the child's primary care provider. This creates a barrier for schools in seeking the information necessary to get approval for billing a PASSE beneficiary.

The second change includes the transition of the responsibility of providing a free and appropriate public education from the early intervention day treatment (EIDT) facilities to the local education agencies (LEAs). Effective July 1, 2019, the EIDT centers stopped accepting federal Title VI-B funds for the provision of special education services to IDEA-eligible preschool age children. This means that LEAs, instead of EIDT facilities, are now responsible for providing a FAPE to preschool age children enrolled in development day treatment clinic services (DDTCS) facilities. Prior to this change, preschool age children who were eligible for special education services under IDEA received those from EIDT facilities (formerly DDTCS facilities), district-run preschools, or educational service cooperatives on behalf of districts. EIDT facilities were created effective July 1, 2018, as a result of the merger between Child Health Management Services (CHMS) facilities and DDTCS facilities. CHMS services were intended for children with the most significant medical and/or developmental diagnoses who require multidisciplinary treatment. DDTCS was primarily focused on working with children with developmental disabilities. Prior to the merger, DDTCS facilities were responsible for providing special education services to children in their facilities as part of a memorandum of understanding through DESE and the Department of Human Services.

The districts and educational service cooperatives that operate early childhood special education programs on behalf of districts must work with EIDT centers within their attendance areas to ensure a seamless transfer of services for IDEA-eligible children whose families elect to continue special education services provided through the IEP. LEA personnel were required to hold conferences with parent(s)/guardian(s) of eligible preschool children prior to July 1, 2019 to review/revise the current IEP; provide a copy of the "Your Rights Under the IDEA;" and inform them of their rights under IDEA and all available options for receiving special education services through the district or cooperative, that any decision to decline special education services from the LEA will result in a revocation of all special education services, and that the parent or guardian has the right to make a new referral at any time.

LEAs and the EIDT centers can create their own agreements as to what the arrangement will be for IDEA-eligible students. In most cases, children did not physically move from the EIDT facilities to LEAs, but the responsibility of special education services transferred from EIDT centers to resident LEAs.

Succeed Scholarship

Act 1178 of 2015 created the Succeed Scholarship Program. The program was created to provide scholarships to students who have IEPs to use at a private school of their choice. Other types of students have been deemed statutorily eligible in years since including foster children, students with an ISP, and students who were receiving the scholarship while in foster care who later achieved permanence through adoption, reunification, or permanent guardianship, and those medically diagnosed with a disability. Act 637 of 2017 allows a superintendent of a student's resident district to waive the requirement that the student attend public school for one academic year to be eligible for the Succeed Scholarship. Act 827 of 2019 requires the House and Senate Committees on Education to conduct a biennial study of the Succeed Scholarship Program.

In 2021, the General Assembly passed Act 741, which expanded eligibility for the program to the children of a member of the uniformed services. Act 741 also created a requirement that students must enroll at a private school in the state of Arkansas.

The General Assembly also passed Act 689, which changed the definition of students with disabilities. Previously, a student must have an IEP or ISP to be considered a student with a disability. Under Act 689, a student must be identified by a public school district as having a disability consistent with the IDEA or medically diagnosed by a licensed physician as a child with a disability under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act. Act 689 also changed the exemption requirements for standardized testing. Previously, a student's IEP or ISP must state that the student should be exempt from testing. Under Act 689, private schools determine if the nature of the student's disability is such that the student should not be required to take a standardized test.

Licensure Changes

In an effort to increase the number of people who are certified to teach special education and to reduce the number of waivers districts need, DESE changed the special education licensure creating more pathways to getting certified. Until 2014, DESE regulations required individuals who wanted to teach special education to get an initial license and then add a special education endorsement to their license. This meant that in addition to the undergraduate degree required for their initial teaching license, they were required to take an additional 21 credit hours of a master's level special education program for the endorsement. There was a concern that many aspiring teachers chose not to get special education certification because it required additional training but offered no increase in salary.

However, DESE has changed some of its licensure rules to make it easier and faster for teachers to become certified in special education.

DESE created a new K-12 initial license for special education that allows teachers to get their standard license in special education. This change allows them to teach special education after obtaining their bachelor's degree without having to add an endorsement to their license. Arkansas universities launched preparation programs for the K-12 special education license in the fall of 2014, and individuals could begin applying for the program during the 2014-15 school year. As of May 2020, seven Arkansas higher education institutions offer a bachelor's degree in K-12 special education. This license can also be received as an added endorsement to an existing license at ten Arkansas higher education institutions.⁴⁶

DESE also created a K-12 special education resource endorsement option. This is an expedited special education endorsement for individuals who are already licensed to teach elementary grades (K-6) or English math, or science (4-8 or 7-12). Previously, teachers who wanted to add a special education endorsement were required to complete at least 21 hours of graduate-level coursework in special education. The new expedited resource endorsement, which received final approval in October 2015, requires teachers to complete just 12 credit hours of additional coursework. Three of those hours must be obtained through an expedited course called "SPED 101 Academy," which has been developed by DESE, higher education institutions, and other special education stakeholders. Applicants who completed a special education survey course as part of their undergraduate degree can count up to

⁴⁶ Approved IHE Programs for Educator Licensure. (May 2020). https://dese.ade.arkansas.gov/Files/20210125110304 IHE Approved Programs Matrix May 2020.pdf.

three credits toward the 12 required for this endorsement. Teachers with this certification will be limited to teaching special education in a resource room setting in their area of certification.

Additionally, DESE created a route to credential special education teachers through a Masters of Arts in Teaching (MAT) program. This avenue allows people who are not certified teachers to obtain a master's degree in teaching to become certified. Individuals can teach under a provisional license (six hours of coursework, including SPED 101 Academy, and passing approved content assessment) while completing the program. This certification was approved in May 2016, and six universities offer the program as of May 2020.⁴⁷

DESE created the Early Childhood Special Education Birth through Kindergarten license. This license provides an option for individuals interested in working with children in the birth to kindergarten age range. It is available as an initial license, add-on license, and through the MAT program. Two universities currently offer the initial license, three offer the add-on license, and two offer this through the MAT program. ⁴⁸

⁴⁷ Approved IHE Programs for Educator Licensure. (May 2020).

https://dese.ade.arkansas.gov/Files/20210125110304 IHE Approved Programs Matrix May 2020.pdf.

⁴⁸ Approved IHE Programs for Educator Licensure. (May 2020).